## Parliamentary Election Program of Mi Hazánk Mozgalom

## Virradat (Dawn) Program for a Prospering Hungary

Mi Hazánk 2022

Hungary belongs to the Hungarians!

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Essence of the Dawn Program	5
Evaluation of the situation and solutions: Justice to Hungary!	7
Concealing the national net worth, after the liquidation of the national economy	9
The money is pumped abroad	11
We will make our homeland one of the most attractive countries	12
Calling to account and corruption	14
After the systematic dismantling of national pride	17
Catastrophic demographic situation	19
The most important power: the media	20
Fight against the new Covid world order	23
Restoration of the Constitution	24
Election of head of state by the people	25
Hungary rising – three main pillars of pulling the national economy round	25
Hungarian land, Hungarian future!	26
Trade along Hungarian interests	30
Tourism as a strategic opportunity	31
Public safety, jurisdiction and law enforcement	32
Accountability	35
Law enforcement	38
Gypsy policy	41
Nation strategy	44
International relations	46
Family policy	51
Environmental management and environmental protection	53
Economic policy and finances	56
Tax policy	59
Education	
Culture	63
Social policy	65
Health care	67
Sport policy	70
Defence	71
Labour affairs	75
Transportation	78
Energetics	80
Youth policy	82
Pension policy	84
Closing remarks	86

## Virradat (Dawn) Program

Justice to Hungary!

# INTRODUCTION

The Virradat Program of Mi Hazánk ("Dawn Program") is not only an election program; instead, it is a work plan spanning several cycles, which intends to remedy the strategic mistakes of the derailed regime change. A real turn, a radical and fundamental change is necessary to achieve that we can again be an ascending nation. We are committed to constructing a work- and performance-based welfare society, where knowledge, expertise, practical experience and diligence are honoured along with acknowledged values. We believe in an organic society, where everybody can find their own place. We believe that the strength of local communities lies in its members and in the suitable and adamant leaders of clear intention. We believe in the Hungarian people. We believe that all Hungarians are responsible for all Hungarians.

We want to create a homeland where the entire country grows, is constructed and blossoms. A place where people look to the future with confidence and peace. Instead of self-centred political mudslinging, causing general indifference and depressive mood, we want to provide a positive vision of the future to the Hungarian people. We want a homeland where the state protects all decent people, from external housebreakers on the borders, and from all criminals within the country. A homeland where elderly people are taken care of appropriately, where the youth does not dream about work and life abroad, since planning long-term and starting a family are possible here as well, where it cannot be a question that this is the best place in the whole world. It is our homeland, where the elderly and the youth can also come home after several years from distant countries, since some kind of a magic, a real Hungarian rebirth takes place. Such a real Central European nation that is equally proud of the thousand years of Western and Christian culture, and the glorious wildness of the ancient Hungarians, the Eastern inheritance as well. Instead of an atomised society, we would like co-operation building on confidence, respect and love, undertaking mutual assistance and payment of public dues, after all a just, solidary, growing and organic society.

#### **Essence of the Dawn Program**

The Dawn Program was written by us, the members and leaders of Mi Hazánk. Our cabinets performing the workshops, our experts, our middle managers and the members of our presidency have summarised the recommendations arriving from the members and they have formulated their own ideas. The thoughts built in by me and the situational evaluations with solutions were compiled on the basis of the hundreds of letters, messages and comments arrived to me, whereas the name Virradat (Dawn) given to the program was selected by the viewers of my YouTube channel, in the course of a vote by thousands of people. A great number of Hungarian people whose ideas are combined by the Dawn Program have provided their thoughts not for a stiff payment, instead in the spirit of patriotism, and selfless desire for our homeland. This is what makes this national work plan, rich in revolutionary concepts, truly valuable.

After all of these, I can rightly say that there has been no party program so democratic, depending on the Hungarian people, and, after all, the Hungarian nation. We believe that a program serving the rise of Hungary and the Hungarians has to be written not

by paid American or Israeli campaign consultants, as Fidesz and the left-liberal globalist side have done during the past years and decades. In fact, Hungarian people know their situation the best and they know how their life could be made better. A Hungarian teacher knows best what is necessary for education; a doctor or nurse knows the health care the best; the farmer cultivating the Hungarian land day after day knows how we can improve agriculture; the policemen or firefighters, often risking their lives, know the problems of law enforcement awaiting improvement; a leader of a settlement sees the situation of local governments the best; whereas Hungarian workers living of wage and salary have to say how the employees live poorly or well. In accordance, the Dawn Program has been written by us. We, who live in Hungary as teachers, factory workers, entrepreneurs, employees, farmers, intellectuals, pensioners, students or mayors, are members of the community of Mi Hazánk.

We love our homeland, we are attached to the traditions of our ancestors, we respect the unique Hungarian culture and our unrivalled native language, and we consider the Northern civilisation encompassing the upper part of the globe, to which we belong, as a value to be retained. Our mission is to prove it to our compatriots loving their homeland, yet often hopeless because of the hitherto political leaders that there is Hungarian future here in the Carpathian Basin, more precisely there is chance to remain only here. We would like to restore and build that fairyland which lives in all of us somewhere deeply. We know that our inheritance is the glorious past, the inheritance of a glittering empire, whose memory is retained by the fascinating and world-famous building of the Parliament and the Saint Crown which is there. Our real constitution has also been conceived from this inheritance.

On the other hand, there is a very strong contrast in today's Hungary. During the past hundred years the country has been dismembered not only in terms of its area and population, but instead, the Hungarian nation has become tormented in its soul as well. Our homeland has been interspersed with corruption, and bureaucracy, partly serving the corruption, and often paralysing simple, honest people. The low real income, rivaling Romania, the poverty and hopelessness expel Hungarians from the homeland, meanwhile the state creating people are kicked day after day by newcomers parasitic mostly on them. The political leadership until now has tolerated and fed all of these, whether it has been Fidesz or the left-liberal globalist side. The time has come that the Hungarians rise to their feet again and take their destiny in their hands. Instead of a devastating country we should again be a growing nation, a strong Hungary!

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom applied for directing this task, which was invented not by bankers and their consultants in the offices of foreign skyscrapers, and not in the luxury homes of domestic and decayed oligarchs, but instead, hundreds of Hungarian people announced it in the summer of 2018 in Ásotthalom, a plain still retaining the ancient Hungarian spirit. We are the only party in history that started to implement its program before entering the Parliament, since we already handed over the first innovative food processing plant, a factory processing sweet potato and producing chips. However, the support and vote of the hundreds of thousands of Hungarians are necessary in order to implement the Dawn Program in its entirety. We need a mandate from our compatriots for the following: the recreation of the national economy; that the government should support Hungarian enterprises prominently, instead of the domination of MNCs and banks; that we can be an agricultural power again; that quality workplaces are created with quality salaries and with a just pension system; that less tax burdens the income; that we have state-of-the-art health care in the homeland of Albert Szent-Györgyi; and that education flies Hungary to be among the strongest and richest countries.

We have prepared the program of advancement of Hungary with the help of the Hungarian people, by using their thoughts and ideas. Please become acquainted with the Dawn Program and if you think that this work plan may be the guiding principle for the regeneration of our homeland, and the revival of this former fairyland, then I request you to assist in the dissemination of the program and Mi Hazánk Mozgalom in the historic elections ahead of us.

László Toroczkai

## **Evaluation of the situation and solutions: Justice for Hungary!**

In the long history of our homeland, Hungary, there were many glorious periods and there were such difficult years and decades when it became doubtful whether our statehood remains or not and whether there would be Hungarian words spoken in the Carpathian Basin in a couple of decades.

During our emperors of the Árpád-House, or during the era of King Mathias and King Louis the Great, Hungary had been a real, independent great power, yet even a bit more than a hundred years ago our empire together with the Austrians was one of the leading powers in the world at the time. The Hungarians, speaking a unique language, with a special culture, unite in themselves the Eastern and Western inheritance of the Northern civilisation, have proven several times that it is not only a nation creating a state, but a nation creating an empire as well.

However, there had always been such tragedies and historical turning points that hindered the development of Hungary. Examples for this had been Muhi, Mohács, Trianon or World War II. In general, these turning points had represented a bloody and lost battle or war, during which a significant part of the Hungarians had been literally destroyed. During the one year of the Tatar invasion (1241-42) almost a half of the population of Hungary (almost 1.5 million people) had died, moreover, the material damage had been enormous as well. During the Ottoman occupation of 150 years after the Battle of Mohács (1526), the Hungarian population had suffered enormous losses again. It had been during this period that our homeland had become a multi-nation state irreversibly, the place of the Hungarians forced back was taken by Serbs, Germans, Romanians, Slovaks, Rusyns and others. Almost 600,000 Hungarian soldiers had died in World War I, then came Trianon, which brought the largest loss of our history. Hungary had lost one-half of its population, two-thirds of its area, and one-third of the Hungarians. After this, our homeland thanks to our hard-working population and the suitable leaders - nevertheless recovered and it started a developing track with persistent and steadfast work. Then came the next war, World War II, with hundreds of thousands of victims and destruction yet again. Then came the brutally difficult communist years, with loft sweeping and a suppressed revolution and a war of independence, yet Hungary was capable of surviving, and the Hungarians increased a bit in population, and the reconstruction of Hungary started slightly.

However, during our long history there have never been a process that we have witnessed in the past 30 years. Namely, in the year 1989, representing another turning point, it was not a lost and bloody battle or war, instead a peaceful change of regime took place worth as much as a victory, or more precisely this is what could have occurred. On comparison with this, more Hungarians left the homeland than ever before in a peace time. In 1990 10.37 million people lived in Hungary and almost everybody declared themselves as Hungarians, however, currently only 9.7 million people have remained, but only 8.3 million people have declared themselves as Hungarians. In the Carpathian Basin, i.e. in the area of the historic Hungary, the number of Hungarians living outside the Trianon borders decreased by 880,000 between 1990 and 2020. All in all, we have, thus, lost more Hungarians in our homeland – at least 1.6 million – in the peace time passed since the 1989-90 "change of regime" in the Carpathian Basin than as a consequence of World War I.

And there is only one reason for this: the political alternating governments which misappropriated the change of regime and liquidated our homeland. One pole of these political or parliamentary alternating governments has been the so-called leftliberals (formerly: communists and socialists, from 1994 "left-liberals", and now "globalists"), whereas the other pole has been Fidesz, with the inheritance of József Antall. The two poles work in such a way as the magnet draws to itself then it sucks in the other political forces, this is what we could see in the case of Fidesz and KDNP, and what occurs in the left-liberal side, when DK crushes the parties united with it from Jobbik to MSZP. The leader visible well on the Fidesz side is called Viktor Orbán, whereas on the globalist-left-liberal side we only see the marionettes. Yet the real leaders do not live in Hungary. And although Viktor Orbán does dare to lock horns with the doubtlessly extremely dangerous György Soros - mainly at the communication level -, yet he does not even dare to mention the name of Klaus Schwab, declaring the new world order referring to the coronavirus, someone much more powerful than Soros. Behind the scenes the big entrepreneurs near Fidesz work together with the globalist-left-liberal giant companies from time to time, such as for example Lőrinc Mészáros does with Strabag.

Although the two poles alternate each other from time to time and they verbally clash regularly, yet they represent the same side of the main, fundamental issues and both sides had participated in the plunder privatisation of the 1990s. This is the reason of all our problems, almost all our current problems stem from the process started in the 1990s and prevalent until now.

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom, representing the third way, is the only political force that intends to break the political alternating governments of two poles always favouring the globalist MNCs against the Hungarian people, it dares to go against the global potentates building a new world order in the shadow of the coronavirus. Mi Hazánk is the only party that would repeal the Act XXXIII of 1921 on the codification of the peace treaty concluded in Trianon on 4 June 1920, according to which, for example, Sopron is a part of Austria today as well. The dictate of Trianon was the most unjust peace treaty in world history, which was forced to Hungary in the shadow of arms. Repealing this Act by the Hungarian Parliament would, first, represent moral reparation, second, at the same time it would provide a legal opportunity for the Hungarian government and the Parliament requesting reparations by turning to the International Court of Justice of the UN. We can never be sure about how the international situation would turn in such a way that we can indeed achieve goals which we do not even dare to dream about today.

# Concealing the national net worth, after the liquidation of the national economy ...

In the decade after the misappropriated change of regime, Hungary had been practically characterised by free plunderage, mafias and oil crime. There had been swindles of real properties, land corruption, but, for example, 621 large companies constituting the basis of the national economy were transferred to the hands of Hungarian private individuals, mostly party cadres, from the state for cents in the framework of centralised privatisation, mostly in the 1990s. In typical fashion, less than 10 percent of these large companies (only 60 companies) can today be considered as medium or large companies of partly or fully Hungarian ownership. More than half (53 percent to be exact) of the large state companies representing the pillar of the Hungarian national economy of the age was practically terminated after the privatisation, after these had been robbed. And 20 percent of the companies purchased originally by Hungarian private individuals have ended up in the hands of foreign companies. In parallel, the governments after 1990 had opened the border wide open to the multinational companies (MNCs), which had a competitive advantage of several decades or centuries, and these put their hands on everything after this. They had taken the valuable real properties, land areas, infrastructure built from state money and enterprises of strategic importance as well, such as for example the electricity suppliers.

Hungarian enterprises starting from zero after the communist decades had no chance whatsoever against the MNCs with several decades or centuries of advantages, with international capital, market and relation system; the MNCs pushed out, oppressed and hindered the former in their development, and finally they made them defenceless. This anti-Hungarian and traitor economic policy continued after the free robbery of the 1990s in the 2000s as well, however, at that time less and less privatisation was possible any more, since almost everything had already been sold, thus, the governments started to support the MNCs from the money of the Hungarian taxpayers, in a mind-blowing manner. Under the left-liberal governments reigning between 2004 and 2010, an annual average of HUF 18.6 billion was paid out to MNCs, whereas Fidesz (reigning from 2010) has transferred an annual average of HUF 51.8 billion, almost three times as much, to the MNCs. Let us add that the value of the HUF decreased too, yet even this way it can be seen that Fidesz (which declares itself as a pro-nation party) supported the international

large companies often at the detriment of Hungarian businesses more than the openly anti-Hungarian left-liberals, which prefer the policy aimed at the creation of the United States of Europe. While the left-liberal governments supported each and every newly created workplace with a support of HUF 4.5 million, the Fidesz governments have paid HUF 9.5 million for the same. What is more, after 2019 the MNCs requesting the support do not even have to promise new workplaces, since the supports based on ad hoc government decision can already be utilised for "asset-based investments, the investments aimed at the creation or expansion of regional service centres, and the implementation of research and development projects".

At the same time, the greatest treasure of Hungary, the Hungarian arable land, has been sold out, too, a significant part of which has ended up in foreign hands on the basis of various clandestine contracts; and the system of large estates of South American style has evolved, where the ex-party cadres have naturally become ultrarich landowners.

Péter Roszik, chairman of the Agricultural Chambers of Győr-Moson-Sopron County had warned more than a decade ago that arable lands of size of 3 counties had become obtained by foreigners utilising the legal loopholes. Approximately 70 percent of the arable land of 700,000 hectares are held by Austrians, whereas 300,000 hectares are held by – among others – Israelis, Arabs, Germans, Dutch and British. Moreover, the European Union had never been interested in Western farmers dividing the market with Hungarian farmers, thus, they have supported the afforestation and lands remaining uncultivated in Hungary with the support system. Under these circumstances it is not surprising that agriculture has declined and whereas it is a leading sector and a basic pillar of the Hungarian national economy, and it could be a main source of filling up the Hungarian exchequer, yet agriculture has constituted only 3.3 percent of the GDP in recent years.

In addition, trade has ended up in the hands of the MNCs as well. In the recent years, Hungarian food product trading companies have increasingly been overshadowed by the MNCs. The percentage distribution of the turnover of food product trade was only 55.6%-44.4% led by the MNCs in 2007, whereas in 2015 this ratio was 60.9%-39.1% headed again by the MNCs.

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom is the only political force that would construct a real Hungarian national economy instead of the further support of global giant companies and bankers. While the globalist-left-liberal side does not even deny that they would construct a so-called supra-national empire (United States of Europe) instead of the nation states, which would obviously be governed by multinational giant companies, whereas Fidesz in the past 11 years has supported global MNCs similarly to the former left-liberal governments, what is more even surpassing those as well. The current government makes the Hungarian working people pay the damages caused by the closures because of the coronavirus, this has accumulated unforeseen amounts of debt since the appearance of the coronavirus. And in 2020 the government provided 27 companies, typically MNCs, with total state subsidy of HUF 67.1 billion, on the basis of ad hoc government decisions.

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom is the only political force that would provide outstanding support to Hungarian small and medium-sized companies, employees and farmers instead of the ultrarich MNCs.

## Money is pumped abroad

It is a miracle that Hungary has been more or less operational in the recent decades, yet it becomes understandable by all means why there has been no sufficient money for health care, education, decreasing taxes, increasing salaries and developing the infrastructure, if we understand that the money has been pumped abroad from our homeland because of the anti-Hungarian economic policy of the left-liberal and the Fidesz governments, thus, simply "cowboy economy" is performed here. It is enough to stand on the Hungarian-Austrian border at the time of the harvest and we can see the tractors with Austrian license plate, full of produce, how they export the treasure of the Hungarian land, or it is enough to take a look at the accounting of an MNC supported with the money of the Hungarian taxpayers, to see why the current antination economic policy is untenable. For example the Győr-based Audi has received support of HUF 36 billion with ad hoc government decision in the past 10 years alone from the Fidesz government, meanwhile it took out HUF 4,000 billion from Hungary. Moreover, the Győr-based Audi Hungaria Zrt., whose 100% owner is the German Audi company, has decreased its registered capital by HUF 350 billion this year, thus, it has been decreased to HUF 72 million. The reason for the capital decrease is not the settlement of loss, since Audi reached income of HUF 2,745 billion last year, yet the German parent company has taken out almost the entire profit of EUR 500 million, what is more, the company decided about the payment of dividend of HUF 2,160 billion to the debit of the profit reserve accumulated in the previous years.

Pumping the money out of Hungary has increased during the coronavirus pandemic, not just at Audi, but at most MNCs as well. For example, the Germany-based Lidl decided about dividend of HUF 26 billion for 2018 and HUF 54 billion for 2019 after its profit of its business years starting from March, whereas the Britain-based Tesco decided about its all-time greatest dividend, of HUF 33 billion, after 2019, from its business years turning at the beginning of March, in the shadow of the turbulent coronavirus measures. Two years ago and last year HUF 8 billion and HUF 17 billion, respectively, were paid out abroad at Tesco, whereas the turnover has decreased continuously.

Mi Hazánk is the only political force that would intervene with state power for the Hungarian enterprises and workers, in order to make them competitive visà-vis the MNCs. Mi Hazánk is the only party that would construct food industry plants all over the country from state source, thus, agriculture would become a profitable and attractive sector again, which would, thus, not only create a lot of new workplaces, and support the farmers, yet it could be the engine of the entire Hungarian national economy via research and development, marketing, international trade and many other points of connection, and it would be the source of the currently insufficient exchequer. With this we would make a significant step towards self-sufficiency and the independent and strong Hungary. Only the program of Mi Hazánk includes also the concept of trade to be held by Hungarian enterprises instead of the MNCs.

## We will make our homeland one of the most attractive countries

Thanks to the economic program of Mi Hazánk Mozgalom, we would implement the basis of the real and strong national economy, moreover, we would move to the direction of quality and affordable food self-sufficiency as well, with domestic trade, creating processing industry built upon agriculture, the greatest treasure of our homeland. At the same time, thanks to our program of redistribution of land, tens of thousands of Hungarians could return directly to the Hungarian land, making the countryside, withering for decades, prosper. These would represent a very high quality of life: it is entirely different to look at a deer from the window of an own-held Hungarian countryside house than seeing the firewall of the house of a Pakistani neighbour. It is very different to put quality, controlled foodstuffs to the table rather than to take low quality goods stuffed with antibiotics, full of chemicals and often genetically modified, from the shelves of hypermarkets.

The other leading sector of the economic program of Mi Hazánk Mozgalom would be tourism, built on almost perfect public safety and on the constructed and natural treasures of our homeland. We would like to make Hungary the country of worldclass tourism destinations which would not only attract tourists from all over the world – creating a lot of workplaces and income sources –, but our already wonderful homeland would become an extremely liveable, admirable and wonderful country. We would make Hungary extremely attractive with the fast and significant development of places of interest and the infrastructure, in addition to retaining the values of our sceneries and environment. A beautiful, safe and liveable country where everybody would like to live.

Moreover, Mi Hazánk has already started to implement in practice the Dawn Program at the place where Mi Hazánk governs thanks to the voters currently as well: in Ásotthalom. Our party has started to implement the Dawn Program at the settlement where László Toroczkai, chairman and prime minister nominee of Mi Hazánk, is the mayor. Hence, we are the first political force during history that has already started the implementation of its program before the elections. Thus, we do not promise that if you vote for us, we would start to deal with our promises. Instead, we have already started the implementation. We have started the implementation of the Dawn Program in enormous headwind, from several smaller application sources, from direct, inter-settlement EU applications reaching across borders, and from own resources, what is more, from donations. After the elections, only 699 food industry plants have to be built of the 700 plants, as specified in our program, since the first was already opened at the end of 2021 by László Toroczkai, the prime minister nominee of Mi Hazánk in Ásotthalom. The special plant, producing sweet potato chips, is supplemented with a packaging unit and a cooling-storage hall as well. In the future not only sweet potato can be processed in the plant but almost any kind of vegetables and fruits. Thus, not only do we create new workplaces, but we also ensure it to the farmers nearby the procurement of their produces at fair prices. In addition to the plant, the municipality also farms on six hectares, providing raw material to the food industry plant. Moreover, an artisan bakery has also opened in Ásotthalom.

In accordance with the Dawn Program, serious tourism investments have started in Ásotthalom, led by Mi Hazánk. The construction of a thematic adventure park, unrivalled in Hungary, what is more, internationally, has started, which states reminiscences to the local historical legends, the historical Szeged-Átokháza and the strange figures of the land of charm: to Sándor Rózsa, who lived in this world of small farms, Pista Pipás and the witches. Namely, few people know that this region close to Szeged was where there had been the most witch trials in Central and Eastern Europe. Until now, the following have been built in the thematic adventure park: the Sándor Rózsa adventure house uniting a mini-cinema, waxworks and a museum; a guest house; the animal caress facility presenting the local animals; and the Tömörkény-house. The latter is completely unique, since the ancient mansion, discovered couple of years ago, was brought here from 40 km and have been reconstructed from brick to brick, thus, the renovated outdoor museum building presents the family mansion of the famous writer perfectly. And the wine cellar is the reproduction of the one having possessed by Sándor Rózsa, where the outlawed leader enjoyed the best wines of the area, according to the short story of István Tömörkény. In a way unique in the country, the visitor can have a complete time travel in the cellar, the foods prepared solely from local raw materials are served to the visitor in 19th century dresses, according to the recipes of cookbooks from 150 years ago. The bread also arrives from the local artisan bakery, naturally prepared in a traditional way, free from any artificial additives. There is no coke on the drink list; instead, there are wines and raspberry juice. No such restaurant operates anywhere else in Hungary. Expanding the tourism adventure park, the design of an enormous enchanted castle is currently underway, this will make reminiscences to the witch trials, but all the members of the family can find the most interesting and entertaining occupation in the castle furnished with a tall Sleeping Beauty tower.

In parallel with the construction of the thematic adventure park, the restaurant presenting the local and southern tastes has been built, and the renovation of the open air swimming pool is underway as well. And just as written in the Dawn Program, tourism can be a leading sector only if we develop the infrastructure, in addition to the attractions and public safety. In accordance, the main roads received a new surface in Ásotthalom, new pavements will be built, and bike paths have been established almost everywhere, the length of these totals more than 20 km. Moreover, we have connected, with a bike path, Ásotthalom with Szabadka (on the other side of the Trianon border), thus, tourists can discover the beautiful areas that ended up in today's Serbia via the border crossing at Ásotthalom: from Ásotthalom there is a bike path to one of the most popular health resorts of the former Hungarian Kingdom, the beautiful Lake Palics, and to the capital of secession, Szabadka.

With the innovation similar to Ásotthalom, led by Mi Hazánk, we could achieve quick results in the entire country as well, building on food industry based on agriculture and tourism. We could jump start the national economy as a sort of an engine, so that the other sectors can develop, too, and thanks to the state incomes the taxes

could be decreased gradually as well, thus, further rotating the economy, further assisting in the development of other sectors, too.

Only Mi Hazánk Mozgalom has a program including specific plans of measure, entailing a significant intervention of the state, which could bring quick results, already tried and implemented. This would guarantee that Hungarians could be retained home by offering a nicer future, what is more, hundreds of thousands of compatriots, who were forced to move abroad, could return home.

## Calling to account and corruption

In addition to cutting back industry and agriculture, the liquidation of the national net worth and supporting MNCs instead of the Hungarian companies, corruption has become a system-level phenomenon, what is more not only in the past decade, in contrast with today's public opinion, but already starting from the so-called change of regime. First, it had been the left-liberal side that had constructed its own deep state with mafia methods in the 1990s. It had been easy for them, since they stemmed from the communist state party, thus, after 1990 they simply preserved the national and state net worth to their own pockets. This is how Ferenc Gyurcsány himself had become the 50th wealthiest person by the millennium from a skint KISZ (Communist Youth Alliance) secretary, a billionaire from the countryside highwayman. It is typical that the greatest corruption affair of the European Union history of Hungary was the investment of Metro 4 in Budapest, which was connected to the left-liberal governments. The European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) revealed fraud and corruption of HUF 167 billion in connection with the metro investment started in 2004 and completed only in 2014.

Fidesz later on sort of copied the corrupt methods of the left-liberal deep state, the immoral and criminal activity of the politicians and their aureole shedding from communists to left-liberal capitalists. Strange as it may sound, yet for Fidesz the left-liberals were considered as the model to be followed with respect to system-level corruption. If it is hard to imagine the passing through between the two sides, it is enough to think about Sándor Csintalan, the man who had belonged to the upper circles of KISZ, then MSZMP, in the Kádár regime, who had become the emblem of all of these, who had been the iconic figure of plunder privatisation, and while he had been a friend of the mobsters of the 1990s, at the same time he became vice chairman of MSZP. The same Sándor Csintalan became very close to the leaders of Fidesz, and especially Lajos Simicska, the financial background figure of the party, who in the meantime became a billionaire as well, so much so that Sándor Csintalan even joined Fidesz in 2007.

Although Viktor Orbán et al attempted it already between 1998 and 2002 as well, they constructed their own deep state after 2010, this has been true system-level corruption. Fidesz had justified all of these for its own followers and voters as well: in contrast with the left-liberal international capital, the Hungarian national plutocrats had to be constructed, and these were supposedly assisting in the creation of an independent Hungary. But a couple of years later it became clear that Lőrinc

Mészáros, Andy Vajna and the others were no Széchenyi counts. They do not spend more and more to the benefit of the public from their own net worth, instead it is the opposite: they spend more and more for the luxury and extravagant life of a narrow circle from the money of the community and the nation. Moreover, it is more and more difficult to fool the decent Fidesz voters of national sentiment that the new oligarchs fight against the international sparrow hawk capitalists, and the Hungarian capitalists set their net to the few Hungarian companies who emerged thanks to their strength, diligence and talent, and could have become the flagships of the Hungarian national economy. Seeing the Hungarian entrepreneurs, blackmailed often with various tools, finally annexed, it has become obvious that there was no war of independence, instead an octopus operating as a mafia network, building on a nontransparent company network, whose main objective is to fill their own pockets, providing the divorced wives, friends and relatives with money; moreover, financing the media empire built in order to retain their own power.

And this octopus has become increasingly transparent, and insolent. Let us show one typical data from thousands of similar investments: In Vienna a main railway station was built from the same amount as it was spent in Budapest by Lőrinc Mészáros to build 7 km of railways. V-Híd Építő Zrt., belonging to the interest sphere of the oligarch near Fidesz, won for HUF 338 billion the expansion of railway tracks between the railway stations of Kelenföld and Ferencváros. According to the experts, the price of such a project could have been at the most HUF 30-50 billion. Thus, it is a corruption record that Lőrinc Mészáros could build 7 km of railways for more money than Metro 4 had been.

In the meantime, the oligarchs of Fidesz and the left-liberal sides have purchased arable land as well, and they have become greater landowners than the former barons and princes. Left-liberal Tamás Leisztinger is a greater master in Csongrád than the Károlyi family had been at the time, and Lőrinc Mészáros outran the exmaster of Alcsút, József Habsburg. Speaking of which let us note that count László Károlyi, the richest Hungarian of the Horthy-era had net worth at today's exchange rate of HUF 8.35 billion based on the calculation of the so-called Big Mac price index. We get double the amount using the Darnyi-calculation: HUF 16.6 billion. Second place had been the net worth of count Sándor Festetics, with HUF 7.45 billion and HUF 14.8 billion, respectively, whereas that of archduke József Habsburg was HUF 5.7 billion and HUF 11.4 billion, respectively, corrected with foreign exchange rate loss (Darnyi-calculation). In the Horthy-era, the aggregate net worth of the first ten richest Hungarian aristocrats and nabobs was, according to the two methods, at today's exchange rate: HUF 42.6 billion and HUF 94 billion. In the meantime, the net worth of Lőrinc Mészáros has been HUF 479.4 billion according to the calculation of Forbes. This means that the net worth of Lőrinc Mészáros is much greater than the richest men of the Horthy-era combined.

The real con trick of the millions of Hungarians is that whereas there are huge verbal disputes between Fidesz and the left-liberal side, they deal with each other cheerfully in the background. For example, Lőrinc Mészáros purchased the ownership of the Szeged-based Napfényfürdő Aquapolis from Tamás Leisztinger, the left-liberal oligarch, who bought the bath constructed from the money of the

Hungarian state at the time for cents, with the assistance of the local left-liberal city leadership, together with the wells of medicinal waters worth hundreds of millions.

What is more, Tamás Leisztinger, whose ex-partner was Kata Tüttő, who has been the deputy mayor of the united left-liberals of Budapest since 2019, and who established a joint venture together with Balázs Kertész, the background figure of Antal Rogán (a Fidesz potentate), and who obtained a valuable real property in the Inner City of Budapest.

The business co-operation between the two poles is even more spectacular if we look at the joint deals of Strabag and Lőrinc Mészáros. The construction industry MNC, based in Vienna, Austria, is one of the largest such companies in Europe, and it is clearly related to the international left-liberal side. This is true to such a degree that the head of Strabag is Alfred Gusenbauer, former chairman of the left-liberal Social Democratic Party of Austria. In accordance, Strabag had been the outstanding favourite of the Hungarian left-liberal governments before 2010. However, this has not bothered the Fidesz oligarchs, who have worked together in many projects with Strabag and its cover company called Belfry. They are consortium partners and sub-contractors of each other in the course of state public procurements of hundreds of billions, what is more there has been a joint venture of Belfry with Duna Aszfalt, held in part by László Szíjj, a close business partner of Lőrinc Mészáros in Eszék (Croatia).

We could provide many other examples to present how the deep state of Fidesz, now reaching across borders as well, is connected to the international left-liberal deep state, but perhaps this many specific examples are going to be sufficient proofs.

Mi Hazánk is the only party that would eliminate parliamentary immunity and would call to account all the governments until now, whether it is the cabinets related to Fidesz or the left-liberals. Mi Hazánk is the only political force that would establish the independent Anti-Corruption Prosecutor's Office of Hungary in order to decrease crimes by politicians. According to Fidesz, the current situation, when an ex-Fidesz politician, Péter Polt, is the prosecutor general, is OK, whereas the globalist-left-liberal side would call the European Public Prosecutor's Office, directed by foreign politicians and financiers, to Hungary would be led by a board in which public prosecutors delegated by both the government side and the opposition, moreover society's organisations beyond the Parliament appear, on a parity basis, these could initiate procedures against any politicians – government or opposition – individually as well.

In contrast with Fidesz and the left-liberal-globalist block, Mi Hazánk does not and will not have an oligarch.

## After the systematic dismantling of national pride ...

No country can be successful without national self-consciousness and pride. Where people do not like to live, where they want to emigrate from, less children are born, the taxation temperament is low and the economic indicators are worse. In this standpoint, the saying "we have got the worst from the communists as well" was true at the age of the communist dictatorships in Hungary. The Republic of Soviets (Tanácsköztársaság, 1919) and the Rákosi-era (1948-1956) literally exterminated the Hungarian national self-consciousness and pride, especially strong at the time, with fire and iron, not only mentally, but in the physical sense as well. Thus, during the Kádár-consolidation they did not have to apply spectacular and violent methods, yet, the internationalist brainwashing and the dismantling of the Hungarian national feeling, the sense of identity and pride continued the same way. While in the neighbouring communist dictatorships - for example in Yugoslavia, Czechoslovakia, Romania or Poland - the national self-consciousness built on traditions was not dismantled, what is more these were expressly supported from time to time, in Hungary it was destroyed with such success that by the time of the so-called change of regime the majority of the Hungarian population did not even know what the Trianon peace dictate was, or where in the map was Szabadka (Subotica), Pozsony (Bratislava) or Nagyvárad (Oradea).

The main reason for this outstanding, persistent and tendentious internationalist 20th century transformation and brainwashing, way beyond the other communist dictatorships, was that the overwhelming majority of the leaders of the Tanácsköztársaság and the Rákosi-era were people of Jewish origin, who did not receive traditional Hungarian education, and this made the Hungarians as aliens for them, and they themselves became frustrated. And although this was not true for János Kádár, yet the almighty leaders of the cultural life of the Kádár-era – e.g. György Aczél or Péter Erdős – were still Jewish.

After the so-called change of regime, there could have been a chance to fix the damages caused by the systematic destruction that lasted for decades, yet the Antall-government committed enormous errors, what is more sins, which were commented by József Antall to the critical voices arriving from his own party (MDF): "Why did you not make a revolution?"

It is unquestionable that there is serious truth in this sentence, the change of regime did not end up being a true change of regime, since it was settled not with a revolution, instead with a peaceful agreement, actually with a transformation of power by the Opposition Round Table and the leaders of the state party. At the same time, even this cannot provide an exemption to József Antall for committing such a high treason, for example, as the Ukrainian-Hungarian basic agreement, in the course of which the Hungarian government at the time abandoned Transcarpathia forever, the following appears in it verbally: "The Parties respect the territorial intactness of each other and they declare that they have no and shall not have territorial demand vis-à-vis each other."

The deed of József Antall was especially serious and guilty measuring with historic

steps, too, since he rushed to Kiev to sign the basic agreement at the time when the independent Ukraine, exiting the Soviet Union, was just being born and it stood on weak and uncertain legs, and its borders were not unambiguous either. In the meantime, Crimea, looking for independence from Ukraine, already indicated it that it would not accept central direction from Kiev and announced that it would become an independent republic within the new state. Only six days before the traitor basic agreement, on 1 December 1991 a referendum was held in Transcarpathia about the future of the area. 78 per cent of the population of Transcarpathia voted for the establishment of a region independent from Kiev, similarly to the population of the Crimean peninsula. This means that not only the Hungarians, but also the majority of Rusyns and Ukrainians of Transcarpathia wanted to become independent. And in the course of the referendum 81.4 per cent of the local population voted for the establishment of a Hungarian autonomous region of Beregszász within Transcarpathia. Compared to this, the Antall-government rushed to Kiev to renounce the historical Hungarian regions forever, only a couple of months after the announcement of the independence of Ukraine and only six days after the referendum of Transcarpathia.

In light of such blatant high treasons it is not surprising that the cowardly and compromising Hungarian governments did not dare to talk about Trianon, the most unjust peace treaty of history, these governments did not turn to the United Nations at any time, despite the fact that the signers violated the peace treaty already at the time it had been born. Yet the dictate declares it unambiguously: in all such cases the Parties may turn to the United Nations Organization (UNO) or before 1945 to the League of Nations, its legal predecessor, requesting the review of the treaty.

Gyula Horn, Socialist prime minister of Hungary between 1994-1998, who in 1991 shouted high treason upon the signing of the Ukrainian-Hungarian basic agreement – because of the waiver of Transcarpathia –, yet when he became prime minister he concluded with the Romanians a basic agreement similar to the one concluded with the Ukraine, and he conducted a much tougher anti-Hungarian policy than the Antall-government. Naturally this came as no surprise taking into account the fact that MSZP and SZDSZ were behind him.

The Orbán-governments have brought some change in the outside, yet the truth is that they have not done much to strengthen the Hungarian national self-consciousness. In the meantime, the last time the Hungarian state could create such a historical movie (during the time of the internationalist dictatorship) – this was the Eclipse of the Crescent Moon (Hungarian: Egri csillagok, literally "Stars of Eger") in 1968 – that could have an effect on the entire Hungarians collectively, and, thus, it strengthened the national sense of identity. In contrast, the Fidesz-government could show only one movie during the past decade which reached the majority of the population of Hungary, this was the Son of Saul in 2015. And with this they have rather strengthened the national guilt, not the national self-consciousness.

In the case of Fidesz, which transformed from liberal to national, it is very typical that they sometimes behave like a bull in a china shop, when they touch national issues. This is like when in 2000 they, very rightly, took the Saint Crown from the National

Museum to the Parliament, yet Árpád Habony placed the saint relic as a crown caretaker to a special vitrine established in the cupola hall. A similar step was when the tobacco shops were called "national", dressed in red-white-green, thus, creating the compound "national traffic" in the vernacular. Fidesz has reached counterproductive effects with such steps, dressing the sir-brother system to national colours rather repels the Hungarians, it does not strengthen the national self-consciousness, instead it weakens it.

Mi Hazánk is the only party that would make movies with state participation that prepare the glorious events of Hungarian history, so that it should strengthen the Hungarian self-consciousness and Hungarian pride for all ages from the youngest to the oldest. Similarly, Mi Hazánk is the only party that would unite all Hungarian children to a national child movement for the patriotic education, preceding the age when globalist leaders educate the teenagers already on smart phones and via the social networks. Thanks to the national child movement, not only the new generations growing up would be enriched with lifetime, traditional (i.e. not virtual) and happy community adventures, but the physical and mental education of the children would be ensured, similarly to the establishment of national self-consciousness. Our program ensures that by the time the children become youth, they will meet the propaganda and brainwashing, which is increasingly inevitable, by that time they will have the necessary mental immunity for this.

### Catastrophic demographic situation

If, because of the destruction of the national economy and the liquidation of the national net worth, the economic indicators are bad and salaries are low, and the patriotic sentiments are not strong either. Thus, it is understandable, unfortunately, that hundreds of thousands of Hungarians emigrate and not enough children are born. And there is no vital question more important than demography. Namely, if we replace Hungarian population with another ethnic group, this land will no longer be Hungary. Thus, we support all useful and meaningful family policy measures, and we first went up against migration on the southern border. Yet, while the Fidesz government has campaigned for years that they would stop migration, the same government actually invites thousands of migrants with the Stipendium Hungaricum scholarship program, for which it spends more than HUF 30 billion per year from the money of Hungarian taxpayers. We have to state that – with the current legislation – Hungary is protected from mass migration not by the government, but instead, by low wages and salaries.

Moreover, even if no migrants arrived in Hungary, taking into account the current processes of demography, we can state that, in contrast with the diminishing Hungarian people, Gypsies, having produced a demographic boom for decades, may become the majority ethnic group between 2040 and 2060. And from that moment on, our native land will not be Hungary, but instead, it would be Gypsy land. And neither Fidesz nor the left-liberal governments have done anything against this threatening demographic trend and the irresponsible boom of the Gypsy population. Moreover, instead of responsible family planning and integration, they have expressly supported, with their measures, livelihood "child production", since they have viewed the Gypsy people as easily purchasable votes. These political parties have never been interested in the fact that, from the children thus born and grown up on the street, they become

drug addicts and criminals, not useful members of the society.

Vis-à-vis this life-threatening process with respect to Hungary, perhaps even bringing another Trianon, Mi Hazánk Mozgalom has been the first in history to outline a program that would handle the detrimental demographic process, establishing the Family Planning Authority, which would primarily operate in the Gypsy colonies representing a closed subculture, operating according to its own value system, entirely different from the culture of the Northern civilisation.

### The most important power: the media

The media is considered as the fourth estate already since the 20th century, however, its importance increased gradually and by the end of the century it clearly became the most important power. With its appearance, social media has practically dominated almost everything, it is almost inescapable in all areas of life, it has even assumed a part of the traditional secret service functions as well.

The change of regime in Hungary could never have been misappropriated in the way as it had occurred. The Antall-government was neither brave nor suitable, they were primarily afraid of performing more serious, system-level transformations and changes of personnel after the entrenched Communist dictatorship of several decades, since the media remained in the hands of the previous regime. MSZP, the successor party of MSZMP, supplemented with SZDSZ, the most obnoxious anti-Hungarian party of all times, could not have returned to power without this propaganda machine. The media war has erupted after 1990 and it still lasts even today, the first step was when the new Parliament left intact, with several amendments, the Government Decree of 1974 on the Hungarian Radio and Hungarian Television, yet no Act on media has been passed, since a majority of two-thirds would have been necessary for that. First, the Antall-government did not have a two-thirds majority, second, it was not sufficiently creative and brave to select another avenues for the removal of the anti-nation propagandists. Hence the Act on media was finally passed by the parliament in the second cycle, at the end of 1995, already under the reign of MSZP-SZDSZ. It is not a miracle after these that media henchmen like András Bánó could remain in their place even after 2006 and they could perform their anti-Hungarian activities just like before 1990.

Not only did this media power keep the political system whereby internationalist communists changed in the meantime to cosmopolitan liberals on power, but it also served loyally in the liquidation of Hungary as well. The MNCs, flattening everything, have supported and still support this media with huge amounts, mainly in the form of advertisements, and commercial TVs, starting from 1997, greatly increased the financing of this media network. Thus, it is not only that this media octopus has participated in suppressing the Hungarian national sense of identity, but the almost complete liquidation of the Hungarian national economy could not have succeeded without it.

The primary reason of the TV siege of 2006 was exactly this (above outlined) failed change of regime. Although the media has become the most important power in the 20th century, it had already played a determinant role in the 19th century as well. Since then no real revolution have been able to occur without the occupation of the current,

prevailing communication tools. In 1848 this was the printed press, therefore (not surprisingly) the revolutionaries occupied the Landerer-press, whereas in 1956 the main communication tool of the propaganda was the radio, thus, people naturally assaulted the building of the Hungarian Radio. In 2006 television was the number one media, not the radio, therefore, the occupation of the headquarters of the public service Hungarian Television was obvious.

However, in 2021 it is already unarguable that the Internet and the social media can decide elections. Meanwhile, from 2005-2008 everybody has celebrated the Internet social network as the victory of freedom of speech, in the recent years it has become clear that the new media has not brought the complete freedom of speech and freedom of the press awaited for centuries and millennia. In fact, censorship has become more and more rude, yet for the small group of the financial elite governing the world not only the control and censorship of the social media has become possible, but instead, the life of all users becomes an open book, operating a sort of private secret service via the social network. There is no more private life, "Big Brother" can see all the steps of the users, it knows who goes where, with whom they talk, what they desire and what they dream about. Furthermore, today almost all the institutions, from the government to the schools, nursery schools and the police, already inform and communicate via the globalist social network, thus, actually everybody is forced to use the globalist social media.

Today, a revolutionary program or change of regime cannot take place without the regulation of the social media. A free and independent Hungary cannot be imagined in a way that an incomprehensibly rich globalist sphere of foreign headquarters sees the thoughts of all the Hungarian people, it influences and directs the masses with its algorithms and it can decide elections.

Thus, the objective of Mi Hazánk Mozgalom is to prepare a regulation that obliges the owners of social media to establish a premise in Hungary as well, so that they should be visible and accessible for the users, so that they should be accountable according to the Hungarian laws, too, that they should store the data of Hungarian citizens only on servers in Hungary, instead of fuzzy "social basic principles and "guidelines", and immediate bans and deletions, without justification, they should follow the principle of justness and gradience. In addition to all of these, a new social media of Hungarian foundation, entering the international space, would be necessary as well, this should not apply double standards, and it would not impose a deviant propaganda, cultural Marxist, anti-white, anti-Christian and anti-family outlook on the users.

#### The opinion terror should be ended!

The independence of Hungary cannot be regained until we terminate the opinion terror that binds the nation today as well. In 2006 the protesting patriots symbolically occupied the headquarters of the Hungarian Television, since the public media lied and served the currently reigning power. The situation is similar today, too: the public media serves the interests of the governing parties today as well, and they cannot disclose such news or opinions that are critical or contrary to the position or interest of the government.

It is extremely important that the public media should serve the entire country and the

nation, therefore, a new Act on media would be necessary, this should declare that the media is an independent power, thus, the media cannot be held by foreigners, and it would ensure that the public media supported from public money cannot serve solely the interests of the current government.

At the same time, the greatest problem nowadays is represented not by the public media and the public TV, since the importance of those has decreased, fewer and fewer people watch TV and listen to radio. The prevailing form of media today is the social media, which can decide elections, and not only in the USA, but even in Hungary as well. Despite this the social media is always directed from abroad by giant globalist companies that are inaccessible and untouchable for Hungarian consumers, users, moreover, typically by Hungarian authorities and courts, too. Thus, these globalist and anti-nation dollar billionaires decide who and what opinions are censored.

#### Act on Facebook!

In Hungary there are today 6-7 million Facebook users, i.e. almost the entire population inquires on Facebook, and even if they do not want to be informed about a specific political opinion, they have to be informed about these nevertheless. However, the government, the disaster management, the police, the teachers of our children, just like the kindergarten teacher who sends the kindergarten pictures, and so on, communicate with us via Facebook. Therefore, Facebook cannot be avoided even if you want to do so. Meanwhile, censorship and brainwashing goes on unnoticed, and we often practise self-censorship. It is also clear that Facebook primarily censors Christian, national, right wing, anti-globalisation, pro-family and pro-tradition opinions, and not only in Hungary, but all over the world. Yet, this is not surprising, since the top leader of Facebook, Mark Zuckerberg, ordered European left-liberal politicians to implement this opinion terror. For instance, the director overseeing European political censorship is Richard Allen, who was the MP of the House of Lords, moreover, he was a member of the Liberal Democratic Party. Similarly, the members of the world court, established recently, are left-liberals and globalists almost without exception. One of their leaders is Helle Thorning-Schmidt, Danish ex-prime minister, who is a left-liberal Social Democrat member in the EU. And András Sajó, founding dean of the Sorosuniversity, is a Hungarian member of this world court.

#### Hungarian social network!

Thus, in order to end the opinion terror and the globalist brainwashing, it would be advisable to establish a Hungarian social network that is free from the influence of the international financial spheres, ruling the world, and not even the Hungarian government would have an effect on this. Moreover, it is also important that the new Act on media should ban the deletion, censorship and ban on political opinions, and solely those contents could be deleted that contradict the law of the given country.

#### **Balanced information!**

Mi Hazánk stands by the freedom of speech and freedom of thought, it considers that the establishment of balanced information is necessary in both the written and electronic media as well. It rejects the persecution of views declared undesirable by the neo-liberal canon and the intents aimed at silencing these.

#### **Definite no to surveillances!**

According to the standpoint of Mi Hazánk, the digitalisation of the individual people and the creation of possibility of continuous electronic control and of their movements and habits lead to the disastrous and irreversible injury of individual human rights.

## Fight against the new Covid world order

The couple of thousands of MNCs and global giant companies, commanding the world (to which tens and hundreds of thousands of companies belong via complex company networks), and the banker dynasties have inestimable net worth, and the governments eat from their palm, and the real control is in their hands in most cases, rather than the politicians. These global companies and bankers, organised similar to the Bilderberg Group, avoiding publicity, established the World Economic Forum, whose executive chairman, Klaus Schwab, in June 2020 declared the so-called "Great Reset" referring to the coronavirus, which actually means the establishment of a new world order.

Many experts, what is more even the American CIA, render it likely that the so-called new coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) was originated in a laboratory. It is also a fact that such businessmen are behind the production of vaccines, representing an enormous business, who are globalist dollar billionaires connected to the World Economic Forum with several ties, for example the American Bill Gates and the Chinese Jack Ma, thus, the question arises legitimately whether the coronavirus, the pandemic and the Covid-protocol applied all over the world is not a pre-planned economic and political process? However, it is for sure, and this is the essence, that the mentioned globalist billionaires and the World Economic Forum unquestionably utilise the coronavirus for the establishment of the new world order declared by it.

And the new world order means that the power, indeed the totalitarian dictatorship of this narrow, globalist financial elite, will be stronger than currently as well. Such a new world, where not only can everything be controlled centrally via the digital money or the community networks, but also to regulate and direct as well. Such a new world, where there is no private ownership, where nobody has an own house, car or practically anything. Anything can be rented from a loan. The Great Reset, the new world order actually means such a strange Marxist capitalism, where all net worth is concentrated not in the hands of the state, but the narrow business-financial elite commanding the world, instead of the people. The World Economic Forum spills this with a cultural Marxist glaze, since the following are parts of the Great Reset: maxing the so-called LGBTQ-rights (indeed all sexual deviancies), the liquidation of the nation states and the positive discrimination of the non-White populations. For its objective, this financial-business elite induces an artificial economic crisis all over the world, by referring currently to the coronavirus. The main tools of this are the closures, restrictions and price increases; and while the masses become poor, the global companies can easily purchase the smaller or larger enterprises; and it can be seen clearly from the figures that these MNCs have grown richer at an enormous rate, unforeseen before, during the time of the coronavirus epidemic. The following emerge especially: tech giant companies, commanding the Internet, the pharmaceutical companies, banks and vaccine producers. In most countries the governments followed and are following the global Covid-protocol, serving the objectives of the World Economic Forum (and the international financial circles behind it), damaging the economy, in general with unnecessary closures and those

obligatory vaccines of which they first lied that these can stop the virus, but today we know that this is not true. The same was done by the Hungarian government as well, and the same was demanded by the left-liberal-globalist opposition even louder and more violently than the government. What is more, in Hungary Fidesz worsened the situation in order to fill its own pocket, since the casinos could operate business as usual for a long time, meanwhile half of the country was closed already.

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom is the only party in Hungary that has stood up against this new world order. Instead of increasing the government debt and the burdens of the population, we would impose an epidemic solidarity tax on the usufructuaries of the coronavirus, the tech giant companies, the MNCs, the pharmaceutical industry, the vaccine producers, the casinos, and we would compensate the damage caused to the Hungarian enterprises and employees from this.

Despite all the prohibitions, threats and police disturbing, we were the only party that demonstrated against the unreasonable closures (on 15 March 2021 the police started 320 procedures against us, a record number in Hungarian history), we turned to the Constitutional Court with large-scale complaints because of the discrimination related to the pointless "Immunity Certificate"; and we demonstrated all over the country against making the vaccines obligatory. The mayors of Mi Hazánk have decided that there will not be obligatory Covid-vaccination at the settlement led by them, moreover, as first in the country, the municipality of Ásotthalom, led by László Toroczkai, chairman of Mi Hazánk, established temporary workplaces to the employees sent on non-paid forced leave because of the rejection of the obligatory vaccination.

## **Restoration of the Constitution**

Hungary has been in a constitutional crisis for decades. The Stalin constitution, Act XX of 1949, the Constitution of the Hungarian People's Republic, replacing the historical constitution built on the Saint Crown doctrine, was indeed the translation of the Soviet constitution of 1936 of the Stalin era. In 1989-90, as was typical for the misappropriated regime change, this Stalinist constitution was only amended here and there, yet essentially it was left in force until 1 January 2012. The new Constitution, coming into force at that time, whose text was written by József Szájer, who failed ethically since then, however, only one political party, Fidesz, wrote and accepted the constitution, which has no relation to our historical constitution (especially the provisions after the preamble).

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom wants a wide ranging and thorough social conciliation in order to restore our historical constitution built on the Saint Crown, for this a constitution representing the entire nation, passed and accepted by a constitutional assembly is necessary, instead of the current Szájer-Constitution serving the interests of one party.

## Election of head of state by the people

In the course of the history of Hungary there was always a leader at the head of the state, who expressed the unity of the nation, represented the country of the Saint Crown, who was above the current government and parliament, thus, he could control the operation of that. However, in the current political system, the president of the republic is completely unsuitable for this task, since he/she is elected by the governing party and the parliament, and, in accordance, party soldiers always end up at this empty post, deprived of actual jurisdiction. Hence Mi Hazánk Mozgalom presses for a genuine election opportunity, an election of head of state by the people, with more serious legitimacy.

# Hungary rising – three main pillars of pulling the national economy round

A new awakening, a resurrection and the rise of Hungary are necessary so that the country can be strong and independent both economically and politically. To achieve all of these, we first have to restore the self-dependent Hungarian national economy, which we have to build on three main pillars. The independent Hungarian national economy, which may be the basis of our welfare, can be created relatively quickly, in a couple of years, based on all of these. Thanks to this, the state can have such continuous incomes as a result of which the tax burdens may be decreased and the salaries may be increased.

Perhaps, the most important of the three pillars is agriculture. Throughout the last thousand years Hungary had always been an agricultural country, one of the pantries of Europe. After the dictate of Trianon, when we had lost our high mountains, this became our main circumstance even more. However, during the last thirty years the politics and the governments have deliberately dismantled agriculture and they have made the country believe that this sector cannot be operated competitively and profitably. Yet, this is the greatest lie, since the population of the Earth increases continuously and explosively, and the distances have decreased, global trade is accessible to everybody; any point of the Earth has become accessible easily, anything can be ordered on the Internet from another continent, and the good arrives here within a couple of day. Likewise, we can also export them easily for which there is always demand: processed foodstuffs. Naturally, in order to operate this well indeed, we have to prepare a very serious plan and we should not be afraid of state intervention either until we start the engine. This is until we create an advantage for the Hungarian people, farmers and entrepreneurs vis-à-vis the MNCs and the Hungarian oligarchs. Namely, the international and Hungarian oligarchs have a competitive advantage of several decades, the governments have helped them reach this situation. There is no equality, thus, Hungarian enterprises, farmers and workers cannot be competitive. Therefore, the three pillars on which we will base the creation of the real Hungarian national economy are:

- AGRICULTURE
- PUBLIC SAFETY
- TOURISM

## Hungarian land, Hungarian future!

#### If we retain the land, it will retain us as well

In the last thirty years more and more Hungarian families have unfortunately left the Hungarian countryside, in the better case, and the country as well, in the worse case. Since it is of strategic importance, the land is not left uncultivated, since the large holders with considerable financial resources, in many cases foreigners, buy all the land. Foodstuffs will always be necessary, whether it is any trough or any crisis, foodstuffs are the last thing that people abandon, since there is no life without nutrition.

#### Hands off from Hungarian land!

And the appetite of foreign farmers, intending to invest, holding more and more land, of areas of size of a county, is unappeasable, thus, their expansion is guaranteed, since the land has always had an owner ever since. And if it is not Hungarians, this will be held by someone else, they view it not as their native land, as a place of their livelihood, but instead, only as a resource that can be exploited.

It is exactly this why we cannot abandon this, and the attitude to Hungarian land and Hungarian agriculture has to be changed fundamentally. The people vulnerable and exploited, depending on the shelves of the large malls, detached from the land, have to be led back to the world of agriculture, environmental consciousness, sustainability and self-supporting. All the more so because we had been an agricultural country for more than a millennium, yet agriculture has been on a runway, it could be a cutting edge sector of our national economy, which it will be if it depends on Mi Hazánk.

#### Agricultural country instead of agri-business!

According to the latest data of the Hungarian Central Statistical Office (KSH), agriculture constitutes 3.6% of the GDP. Food industry constitutes 1.8% of the GDP. The hardly more than 5% of the ratio of the GDP does not seem to be a lot, considering that Hungary has typically been an agricultural country for more than thousand years. In recent years we have exported approximately 8 million tons of cereals alone, whereas 40-50 thousand tons of live cattle has been exported per year. We then meet the products processed abroad on the shelves of hypermarkets, which we can buy at a significantly higher price. The intervention of the state is necessary to change this.

#### We could be an agricultural power!

As a result of our geographical location, climate, water resources and fertile land conditions, we could be an agricultural power, but instead, we slowly degenerate into a car sector assembly plant. Namely, it is not enough to hand over knowledge and approach to the youth, it is necessary to provide the opportunities as well, thus, there is no viable agriculture without rural development.

#### **Rural development**

The necessary infrastructure has to be created, the disadvantages of living in the countryside have to be minimised, its advantages have to be shown, housing has to be ensured, and a land program has to be announced for the people intending to farm. The successors of families detached from the land in the previous regime have to be led back to the love of the mother earth, they have to have the knowledge that their ancestors used to have, and with which they can be their own masters again. The real properties purchased by the state or those it received in lack of an inheritor, and the lands appropriated with unsettled ownership relation have to be applied for by those who are interested in this. Young families intending to deal with agriculture have to be

preferred, the extent of bureaucracy experienced in agriculture has to be decreased, the winning of tender application sources has to be made easier and more just – thus, preferring the small farmers of the sector based on their large ratio –, and attempts have to be made to make Hungarian countryside life more live and livable for family farms, instead of the single-crop large enterprises.

#### Hungarian land and water resources are national treasures!

The reputation and appreciation of farmers have to be returned, a career model and a predictable pension have to be provided for them, and the Hungarian land has to be protected and retained not only from the advances of foreigners, but also from the "utilisation of other purposes", using up more and more hectares, since the Hungarian land and water resources are national treasures, thus, it is a fault to squander those. It is necessary to shift towards long-term sustainability instead of instantaneous exploitation, attempts have to be made for GMO-exemption, the minimisation of chemicals and fertilisers, and retaining and improving the condition of the arable land. And this is true for the economic part as well, since (instead of raw materials squandered cheaply) finished products with high value added, as much as possible, have to be produced, creating and retaining workplaces paid more and fairly, primarily for us, and then for export purposes, to solvent countries looking for quality foodstuffs.

#### Popularising and supporting organic farming

The popularity of consumption of healthy agricultural products, free from chemicals, antibiotics, hormones and GMO has increased mainly in the solvent Western countries. By promoting and supporting organic farming, not only can new international markets be opened to Hungarians, but the Hungarian population could eat much more healthily with the bio-products rich in micro elements and vitamins and less detrimental materials. This is important for relieving health care and for prevention as well. It is typical currently that the shelves of Hungarian hypermarkets are flooded with inferior, often repackaged goods, stemming from outside the European Union, full of chemicals, foodstuffs not appropriately checked, by MNCs, in order to realise the same profit via the Hungarian population with smaller purchasing power than in the West. Contrary to public belief, the yields of organic farming are not much lower compared to the yields reached in traditional agriculture. According to some studies, the yield is 91% of traditional agriculture, whereas some others say that this is 95-100%, with close to half the amount of manuring costs and 97% lower herbicide costs. The premium in the price of organic foods further increases the competitiveness of this type of agriculture.

## Starting the engine of Hungarian economy: Hungarian processing industry back!

Formerly goods were sold "in skin", whereas now processed foods have to be sold in order to achieve a decent profit. It was an enormous sin that in the 1990s the governments let the canning factories, sugar factories and food industry plants of great heritage be lost. Reconstruction of the food industry may be the engine of our national economy. In order to implement this, our processing industry also has to be in sync with agricultural production, and the establishment of small and large plants is necessary all over the country. The former one would produce unique, local nature, niche market products prepared with higher value added, and they guarantee quality food production; meanwhile, the large plants are necessary for processing the surplus raw materials and the production of mass products.

For the development at the country level, 700 small and large food industry processing plants would be established within 2 years, with the related necessary logistics, serving establishments, cold storage, slaughterhouses, press shops, milk processing plants, and logistics centres, whose task is the harmonisation of production, demand and sales, following the sample of the former "ant co-operatives". In addition to the workplaces created locally at all these sites, with this state investment we would create a stable economy, less fluctuating, in which the state would assist the people living of agriculture with a guarantee program, and it would hinder the speculation of agricultural products.

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party that started redistribution of land

In order to popularise agriculture and make it more accessible, to strengthen the countryside, and to fill the villages and world of small farms with a new life, Mi Hazánk recommends the New Program of Redistribution of Land, and it has already started the implementation of this at some settlements with Mi Hazánk leadership, first in Ásotthalom. In addition to state lands, the implementation of the program could be performed, for example, from those lands where the settlement of ownership rights of undivided common land areas was not successful, and the state would buy them from the passive owners or when it does not have a land user permanently (at least 100 years), which is thus no man's land. In Hungary there are millions of hectares of such land, mainly undivided common ownership land areas. The state would have to buy these lands (in part if the state already has a partial stake today as well), moreover, the thousands of farmstead ruins not used – surrounded with a land area of one cadastral hectare in general –, and these would have to be included in this program.

#### Let us end government land corruption!

The goal is to bring back many Hungarian people to agriculture and near the land, since much higher quality of life can be led here, next to nature, than in a tenement building or rented flat. Concurrently with this government land corruption has to be filtered and stopped immediately, and the areas obtained unlawfully have to be renationalised!

#### Foundations: bringing up and education

Naturally, knowledge also has to be attached to the arable land. Children have to get acquainted with nature, the love of the land and agriculture already at a very early age, and in the course of their later studies they have to acquire the knowledge of healthy nutrition, environmental protection and self-sufficiency, to understand that farming and livestock breeding, forestry and grassland management do not depend on fashions, trends and ages, but these are inescapable factors in our lives.

And we will establish workshops of people's academy in order to transfer agricultural knowledge all over the country, to the new farmers. Moreover, the food industry processing plants, built with state participation, ensure predictable buying up of the produces, thus, they provide livelihood to the new and former farmers.

#### Model: the ant co-operative

In order to increase efficiency, the revival of the new type of ant co-operatives and the establishment of farmer associations are necessary. In contrast with communist agricultural cooperatives, the essence of the new type of ant co-operatives is that

private ownership remains, and all farmers manage their own land independently, however, the new ant co-operatives assist in procurement and sales, and services such as, for example, logistics, cooling-storage, mechanisation, wide ranging quality assurance and enforcing interests. Moreover, their main task is to join forces of farmers and, finding the market, selling their produces in the most processed form attainable. The state provides special support to the new ant co-operatives, the co-operatives obtain a stake in the processing plants, which procure the raw materials primarily from these new ant co-operatives. The farming co-operatives – for which there are many examples abroad, operating for a long time – represent a great assistance in modernising agricultural equipment and in the feasibility of common goals in order to increase the average yield, since instead of the separate buying of the extremely expensive special machines, used seasonally, common procurement and greater application chances are realised, and the rate of effectiveness would be increased with an irrigation system or an agricultural road as well.

#### New times, new challenges: water management

In order to optimise production and taking into account the change of climate, appropriate water management becomes increasingly necessary, which would be implemented via reservoirs and channels constructed for collecting the precipitation and floods, and irrigation systems. As a consequence of our geographical situation, an enormous amount of water flows through the area of Hungary, and we do not seize this water quantity and we do not utilise it appropriately via channels, meanwhile a part of the Danube–Tisza Interfluve, for example the Homokhátság, is already considered as a semi-desert.

Because of the ever increasing temperature that becomes extreme and the decrease in the loss production of the slow desertification of the Great Hungarian Plain, yet the increase in average crop can be achieved with appropriate water management, but it may be of key importance for medicinal herb and vegetable production and forestry, where (similarly to animal husbandry and cultivation of plants) the invasive economic species, promising great yield, have to be avoided, and indigenous species have to be preferred in return.

#### **Symbiosis**

Instead of monoculture production such plant associations have to be created where a symbiosis is necessary that is sustainable and appropriate for most participants. The new winds of new times have brought new illnesses as well, and not only for animals and plants, but also to the consumers of these as a result of the exaggerated use of chemicals and antibiotics. Therefore, environment and health favouring solutions have today to be selected and developed against the various illnesses. Instead of maximising the extent of profit, long-term sustainability has to be considered the most!

#### Hungarian land is not for sale!

In order to prevent further squandering, our goal is the primacy of protection of the arable land and to avoid the foreign buying of land with all tools, moreover, we have to settle the ownership right of land areas and the rules of inheritance of arable land. The state has to confiscate the lands obtained with clandestine contracts and corruption! Moreover, we intend to achieve that the facility of common ownership should be terminated, and the dangers of fregmentation of arable land areas and the concentration in the hands of one owner, of extreme extent, should be eliminated.

#### As you sow, so shall you reap!

In general, as a result of external causes and effects, agricultural production has in the past decades lost its importance in the national economy, whereas food industry production has decreased drastically. Our agricultural products are, in general, sold without processing, thus, the industrial plants, still existing or established recently – and in general in foreign ownership – realise the profit created as a result of the added value. A clear consequence of this is the restriction of work opportunities in the countryside and the continuous deterioration of the standard of living. The development of industry created with the capital import of the recent years – which was assisted with significant domestic support as well – has primarily represented an advantage to the people living in cities. According to the judgement of Mi Hazánk, the development of agriculture and the more significant increase in the products of plant cultivation and animal husbandry in the ratio of the national economy can be achieved only by taking many important measures affecting the entire sector.

#### Horticulture

We believe that the branches of horticulture, and forestry, hunting and fishing are the areas whereby retaining the traditional agriculture-countryside relationship can be implemented for the most part. Hence, we intend to support the production of fruit plantations, and arable land and greenhouse/foil vegetables, strawberry and ornamental plants, and medicinal herbs. It is true for fishing, but mainly for hunting, that almost only the local population does not profit from it, thus, it is necessary to re-think the present system and the preference of land owners in this area. We intend to create work and livelihood opportunities, thus, source of income to the hundreds of thousands of people living in the countryside, with the above measures, furthermore, via the planting and motivation of afforestation of arable land of poor quality with energy plants and alternative cultures, moreover, to produce raw materials for the processing industry activities to be developed.

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom considers that the destiny of the Hungarian countryside, the Hungarian land and the Hungarian people is of key importance, thus, it will do its utmost to ensure that the Hungarian agriculture has both a past and a future as well!

#### **Trade along Hungarian interests**

#### Local production instead of foreign products

The movement of goods – often only taking place on paper – has to be terminated, and, instead of the weakly controlled import products, local production and the short supply chains have to be strengthened, omitting foreign MNCs. In the area of sales, the main objective is the supply of the domestic market, turning towards complete selfsufficiency and the creation of that. Only the surplus should be exported from the country, and in the area of exports the following may be potential partners: the United Kingdom, which left the EU recently, Turkey and even Russia, which turned to complete self-sufficiency because of the EU embargo.

#### Hungarian trade instead of MNCs

Food retail trade in Hungary is dominated by MNCs. Realising increasing turnover, Tesco, Lidl, Aldi, Spar, Penny Market and Auchan have taken out their profit from Hungary for years, meanwhile, in many cases, they drive out Hungarian goods with foodstuffs of low quality, arriving from distant countries and exercising harmful effect

on health, for the greater extra profit realised because of the enormous margin, in the manner outlined above. Our goal is to support and establish Hungarian retail trade networks as well as the gradual driving out of the plunder capital of the MNCs. Moreover, we would like to see more verified Hungarian goods on the shelves, at affordable prices. For this purpose, we would regulate the extent of margin as well.

#### Wholesale markets

Wholesale markets have to be developed everywhere, instead of their dismantling. Farmers have to be assisted by logistics organisations established by the state in selling their products appropriately and comfortably, and to ensure that there is no surplus, and to avoid having to pay enormous amounts for a good place or to wait for a long time on wholesale markets.

#### Tourism as a strategic opportunity

Tourism as a leading industry is an opportunity of breakout for Hungary, its condition is safety. Our aim is to make Hungary one of the leading tourism destinations of the world, and one of the best arguments for this is perfect public safety. Who wants to spend the summer with his family in a dangerous country? Where they can be harassed, robbed or raped on the street at any time. Where they can be innocent victims of terrorist attacks.

Singapore, with a population of 5.6 million, is a good example for the combination of safety and tourism. 20 million tourists arrive at the city-state every year. Singapore has achieved this, among others, with extremely strict laws and almost perfect public safety. Zero tolerance vis-à-vis migration, announced in Hungary by Mi Hazánk, has played a key role in this respect. We can remain a safe country only if we succeed in remaining a Hungarian country as well, and our homeland can be an attractive target for tourists, if they do not have to fear from crimes. In the following decades, as an effect of crime and terrorism, increasing as a result of migration, it is expected that several, hitherto popular Western European tourism destinations, will lose their appeal, thus enormous opportunities will open for Hungary. According to Mi Hazánk, we have to prepare for this already now, and we have to use these opportunities. Similarly to agriculture, tourism would be a generator of the entire Hungarian national economy, it would provide employment to a lot of people, and it would be important for the country image as well.

#### Our diversity is our strength

Mi Hazánk intends to strengthen domestic tourism, too, meanwhile it is also our aim to make Hungary one of the most popular target countries of international tourism. Tourism currently represents almost 10 percent of the GDP, yet the sector and the employees working in it do not receive enough attention and assistance from the state. We have extremely diverse circumstances, each of which require separate attention and strategy, at the same time their connection can provide even greater surplus to the sector. Our built and natural heritage, our regions, cities and waters, our wines and foods, our national memorials, our folk culture and our rural tourism are all extraordinary on their own right, they are suitable for dazzling our guests.

#### World-class places of interest

The building of the Parliament, the most beautiful parliament of the world, is one of the world-class places of interest in Hungary, and so is Budapest itself, the capital of the

country, which is one of the most beautiful cities of the world. Moreover, there are several places of interest in the Hungary mutilated in Trianon as well that can be developed to become attractive destinations. Thus, the visitor-friendly development of strategic approach is essential in the case of both constructed and natural environments.

The Danube bend, together with the castle of Visegrád, or Lake Balaton, along with the Tihany peninsula, and many other regions can represent major attractions for international tourism as well, developed with an appropriate and up-to-date strategy, reconstructed with our cultural heritages, renewed with a castle reconstruction program, supplemented with world-class attractions. Naturally, the significant development of the infrastructure – especially the public road system – would be necessary as well.

#### Health tourism

Hungary is famous all over the world for its spa waters, however, the governments until now have not utilised the opportunities inherent in this in tourism either. It has been typical for the last thirty years that the use of the services of medicinal centres of holiday resorts has become the privilege of rich people. This has to be changed. These locations have to be made accessible for everybody and attractive for foreign tourists, too, these have outstanding circumstances internationally as well. In this area, in addition to the rightly world famous Lake Hévíz, Europe's largest medicinal hot water lake, we have several other jewels all over Hungary.

#### **Connecting Hungarian culture and tourism**

Several cultural events can be accessed in both Budapest and the countryside on which the state could construct entire specific program plans, thus making the visit and enjoyment of those attractive. However, we still have to wait for all of these. It is no accident that the country's largest summering events are now organised by Mi Hazánk. Culture and tourism are not connected at the governmental level either, yet this would greatly assist in achieving a more positive picture of our homeland in the world.

#### **Preferring domestic raw materials**

Based on the contents of the chapter about agriculture, we designate it as a special aim that, as much as possible, products of Hungarian production and processing can reach the shelves and desks in the tourism sector, especially supporting the opportunities of artisans. In the framework of this we consider it desirable during the procurement of raw materials that the owners would be directed in this direction.

## Public safety, jurisdiction and law enforcement

#### Public safety instead of public fear!

Mi Hazánk would prioritise the rights not of criminals but of law enforcement and decent citizens. In any case, the rights and sensitivities of criminals must not be allowed to take precedence over the interests and rights of decent, working Hungarians. Unfortunately, the last thirty years have been about this: the liberal dictatorship of opinion has come to criminal policy and law enforcement and has

wreaked havoc.

#### Border guard, gendarmerie, independent fire brigade!

Law enforcement would be structurally reorganised. There are currently a number of glitches in the system. The police, for example, do not have the task of patrolling the borders, which on the one hand diverts police personnel from their main task of crime prevention, law enforcement and public safety, so they will be absent from their own areas, and on the other hand they will have to serve away from their families and homes. In order to reduce the burden on the police, we would reestablish the border guard, recruiting mainly from the border counties, creating a pool of locally familiar staff who would be close to their home and family. Border protection is a special task for which the border guards would receive special, specific training.

We could also create a gendarmerie, because in our country there is a subculture that does not respect the basic rules of social coexistence, is noisy, littering, and constantly disturbs and harasses their surroundings. The task of the gendarmerie would be prevention, classic crime prevention. The powers would be designed in such a way that police and gendarmerie officers could use the necessary force against criminals, without fear of being dragged away because of a measure since the criminal has additional rights. Members of the gendarmerie would be given special training, uniforms and equipment, and their very appearance would deter criminals from committing crimes. We would restore the autonomy of the fire brigade, independent of disaster management.

#### Let's lower the offence threshold!

It is unacceptable, for example, that the current government has raised the threshold for offences against property from HUF 20,000 to HUF 50,000, thus reducing the number of offences, as the average theft of a bicycle is now only an offence. It is unacceptable that in Hungary criminals can walk in and out of prisons. It is unacceptable that they are still at large after committing many crimes, and it is also unacceptable that when they get out of prison they can receive compensation from the state, even if it is because their prison cell was not comfortable enough.

#### An example that works

One of the most advanced, least corrupt and safest countries in the world, Singapore, owes its position to its strict laws and tough crackdown on criminals. So the situation of Singapore could be a model for us. Of course, we would not adopt everything: for example, we would not want to criminalise the use of chewing gum, nor would we want to punish drug possession with a death sentence, but rather with imprisonment. But like in Singapore, we would introduce extremely severe penalties for political criminals, for example.

#### Work camps for prisoners!

Penitentiary institutions in Hungary would be transformed into work camps. In

Hungary, prisoners are currently allowed to work, but it is optional and they are paid for it. Since criminals have already caused harm to the society, the position of Mi Hazánk is that they would have to work off the harm they have caused in exchange for forgiveness, for which they would not be paid, and that employment would be compulsory, not optional. This would also address the labour shortage in agriculture, of course with 21st century technologies such as modern protection, surveillance and tracking. Our position is that prisoners in prisons, while not disenfranchised, are subject to a certain degree of deprivation of liberty, and therefore have limited legal capacity during their sentence, and therefore cannot claim or hold the state accountable for the conditions of their detention in the same way as ordinary citizens.

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party that would introduce imprisonment in Siberia

It would not be compulsory to work in domestic labour camps, and those who do not want to do so could choose to work in prisons in Russia, or Siberia in most cases. There are, however, categories of offenders who would not have a choice: political criminals, multiple repeat offenders, aggravated murderers, particularly vicious criminals, robbery-murderers, paedophiles or, for example, leaders of ethnic-based criminal gangs - the most heinous and socially harmful criminals - would automatically be sent to prisons in Russia, typically Siberia, among extremely harsh conditions. The essence of this is deterrence. The Strasbourg Court does not operate in Russia, you cannot get compensation if the sun has not shone in the cell. It is an important social message that it is not worth stealing as a politician, because that is the kind of place you can end up. It is also extremely important that, for example, within the Gypsy subculture, prison is considered a "cool" thing to do, an example to follow. Young Gypsies only become real men when they go to prison. And ex-prison influencers brag about their experiences, making videos with smuggled phones about how they train in the cells, how they are "kings" in prison. But their experiences in Russia and Siberia are guaranteed not to be boasted about, and young people will not want to go to the Black Dolphin or the Snowy Owl, which will be the real deterrent.

The Criminal Procedure Act should be amended to make it compulsory for the state to compensate natural victims of violent crimes against the person, on the basis of a court judgment, and for the state to recover the amount of compensation from the perpetrator, and if there are no recoverable assets, the compensation should be worked off by the perpetrator in favour of the state.

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party that would introduce the death penalty

We would reinstate the death penalty for untrainable, repeat killers. The death penalty has a deterrent effect. By abolishing the death penalty, we are telling society that the life of the murderer is more valuable than that of the victim. According to the research by two professors at Pepperdine University, based on 26 years of experience in the United States, homicide rates have trended inversely to executions, with each execution reducing the number of homicides by an average of 74 in the following year. In contrast, life imprisonment - which very often does not actually last for the rest of the killer's life - is not a real deterrent. And criminals sentenced to actual life imprisonment have nothing to lose, so they will stop at

nothing, posing a threat to their fellow prisoners and guards, and even to society as a whole in the event of a successful escape. Moreover, imprisonment is extremely costly and imposes an additional burden on honest taxpayers, while for many criminals prison conditions in Hungary are not a deterrent at all.

#### **0% immigrant, 100% Hungarian country**

The issue of immigration is often raised in the context of public safety. Mi Hazánk does not support the immigration of any kind. We believe that Hungarian workers should also be protected by law from cheap foreign labour, thus eliminating even the currently legal form of immigration. We would immediately stop the Stipendium Hungaricum program, for which every year the government spends HUF 30-40 billion of Hungarian taxpayers' money on migrant students, mainly from Africa and South Asia, many of whom have become criminals in our country in recent years. This program is actually also a way for the government to promote legal immigration. We would also prefer to spend this HUF 30-40 billion a year on Hungarian education.

The border fence was the idea of László Toroczkai, the mayor of Ásotthalom, in 2014, so it is only natural that we would not only keep the fence protecting the border and strengthening the security of Hungarians, but also expand it. The border guard would also be reinstated, because instead of the government taking police officers from other important areas, away from their families, to the border, professional border guards, recruited largely from areas near the border, would be responsible for border protection.

## Accountability

#### Anti-corruption prosecutor's office!

We would set up the Anti-Corruption Prosecutor's Office of Hungary, which would not be headed by a prosecutor general, but by a panel of prosecutors recommended by both the government and the opposition on a parity basis. The Anti-Corruption Prosecutor's Office of Hungary would guarantee that any member of the governing body could initiate proceedings on their own, thus guaranteeing that both government and opposition corruption would be investigated. Neither the current system, where a former Fidesz politician, Péter Polt, is the Prosecutor General, nor the European Public Prosecutor's Office, advocated by the left-liberal-globalist opposition, and headed by a globalist, non-Hungarian Prosecutor General, would guarantee truly independent accountability. In both cases, the procedures would be politically influenced and obviously biased towards one side. In contrast, the Anti-Corruption Prosecutor's Office of Hungary, advocated by Mi Hazánk, would guarantee the investigation of corruption cases on all political sides.

#### Justice instead of jurisdiction!

The law and order of a state is a fundamental determinant of the general wellbeing of its citizens, the public mood and their attitude towards the country's leadership. Of the three classical branches of power, it is the legislature and the judiciary that are directly linked to the law and order. The public mood in recent years reflects the

dissatisfaction of broad sections of society, who feel that justice is not being done, instead jurisdiction is being done, and that the courts are consistently passing judgments against the majority of public expectations, ignoring the needs of citizens.

In order to remedy this unfortunate situation, Mi Hazánk wants to act in parallel, on the one hand, to revise outdated, outmoded, overly complicated laws, contrary to our interests, and on the other hand, to combat the overbearing power of the judiciary, which is contrary to the public and society's sense of justice, exploits legal loopholes and abuses overly complex formulations, and is sometimes corrupt. In order to enhance legal certainty, the procedural organisation of the judicial institutions should be radically speeded up, including by reducing the time limits for the investigation phase, the time between pre-trial detention, indictment and first trial and the time limit for the continuation of a trial. The latter time limit should not exceed 30 days in both criminal and civil proceedings.

### Mi Hazánk is the only party that would abolish parliamentary immunity

We would abolish parliamentary immunity, and we would like to reassess the relationship between the so-called human rights, civil rights and fundamental rights that are given priority. Parliamentary immunity currently promotes political crime, it sends the message that politicians are above other citizens and are untouchable. We are serious about equality before the law.

At the request of the majority of the society, we want to put on the agenda the reassessment and concretisation of the current definition of high treason as a crime in the Criminal Code.

## Real accountability instead of obfuscation!

To curb political crime, Mi Hazánk believes that all politicians should be subject to a mandatory wealth test every four years, disclosing if the test reveals wealth of uncertain origin that may have been acquired through corruption. The confidential wealth declarations of the representatives' relatives would also be published retrospectively to reveal hidden, stolen wealth. According to Mi Hazánk's ideas, politicians could face a deterrent double sentence (to be served in prisons in Russia, typically in Siberia) and full confiscation of assets for economic crimes. In addition to abolishing the outdated political privilege of parliamentary immunity, we would oblige members of parliament to declare any other nationality they may have. The high level of restrictions on access to data of public interest must be changed, and the legality of encryptions that appear to be justified by national security interests must be reviewed.

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party that would link the right to vote to literacy

In the interests of more responsible representation of public affairs, Mi Hazánk would give the right to vote to those who can at least read and write. The votes of those who cannot even read what is on the ballot paper, who cannot even read the names of the parties, are usually easier to buy for the parties committing electoral fraud. If driving a car requires a primary school qualification, having a say in how the country

is run is just as much about having the most basic methods of obtaining information. Suffrage, although universal, is not unlimited, as minors (or their legal representatives) cannot vote, nor can those who work before the age of eighteen.

# Enough of the bailiffs' profiteering!

Mi Hazánk would eliminate the execution companies and their networks, which have now developed into an independent industry and mafia, and make execution nonprofit. In recent years, the Magyar Bírósági Végrehajtói Kar (Hungarian Judicial Executive Board) has operated like a veritable criminal organisation, and in the course of their greedy profit hunger they have on numerous occasions pursued unjust or time-barred claims against citizens. Claims management companies and many notaries were complicit in this. Accountability has already begun by us and thanks to a year and a half of our work, the president of the Executive Board has already been remanded in custody.

Our position is that foreign currency lending was a criminal offence, that the cases of foreign currency victims should be suspended, that the full amount of the damage should be passed on to the banks concerned by means of a bank tax, and that the financial fund created from the tax would ensure compensation for the victims.

# Anti-communist claims

It is a common shame of the past 30 years of the MSZP and Fidesz governments that the state security past has still not been cleared up, including the revelation of the agent lists, the accountability and banishment from public life of party-state leaders, and the withdrawal of communist luxury pensions. These three demands are the most important anti-communist program points of Mi Hazánk. What a pharisaical policy to remember 4 November or, for example, Péter Mansfeld, the blood prosecutor who sought the death sentence for him, who was paid a luxury pension of several hundred thousand until his death a few years ago, similarly to Béla Biszku. Not only were the leaders of the party-state dictatorship not held to account, but they were not even excluded from public life, and they retained their power. Thus, after the alleged regime change, Ferenc Gyurcsány could sit in the prime minister's chair, from the position of secretary of the Central Commission of KISZ. Following the Polish example, we would like to see a "vetting" law that would cleanse public life of those who, as leaders of the previous regime, contributed to the oppression of the Hungarian people and the maintenance of the communist dictatorship.

# National Accountability Commission!

In order to investigate the crimes committed over the past thirty years by certain economic-political organised criminal groups that have led to the plundering of Hungary, the National Accountability Commission should be established, which, as an organisation independent of the branches of power and above them, is entitled to instruct the police, the prosecution and the Constitutional Protection Office as an investigative body. It should also be the task of the Commission to scrutinise and make public the contracts and minutes of the last thirty years that have been classified as state secrets. It should be made possible for the rules on the forfeiture of wealth to apply to offences committed as a member of a criminal organisation with economic and political influence, notwithstanding the prohibition of retroactivity.

# Law enforcement

# Order, gendarmerie!

In order to restore public order, a gendarmerie should be set up, whose powers should be clearly delimited from those of the police. The former is responsible for preventing crime, the latter for investigating it. The gendarmerie, wearing prestigious uniforms and receiving special training, would deter criminals by their very appearance. What is needed is prevention, crime prevention, not the police responding to a crime that has already taken place.

It is extremely important to restore the authority of law enforcement forces. The liberal practice, which has characterised the last thirty years, of giving criminals virtually more rights than the police, must be abolished. It is important that the police officer is not afraid to take action against the offender, and the offender should not be able to defend himself against action on the grounds of his origin or human rights. The right of decent people to safety is more important than anything else.

## **Right to bear arms also for off-duty police officers!**

Mi Hazánk would give not only the right, but also the means to self-defence by widening the possibilities to carry weapons, because criminals will get their weapons anyway, but to defend themselves we need a change in the law. Last year, in response to EU efforts to restrict the right to bear arms, the Czech constitution introduced the right of its citizens to use weapons to defend themselves and others, which could be an example for Hungary, and Mi Hazánk would give off-duty police, defence and sport shooters the right to bear arms. Making it easier for people to carry self-defence weapons is also in the interests of public safety, as we can save innocent victims by eliminating attackers.

According to Mi Hazánk, members of the armed forces should primarily be allowed to carry their service weapons off-duty, even out of uniform. It is also in the public interest that as many people as possible should carry self-defence firearms, who can serve the Hungarian state with responsible behaviour and who can also provide a good example for the development of gun culture. Mi Hazánk would also grant weapon licences to volunteer military reservists, making military training more attractive. In the same way, hunters could be included, and the right to bear arms for sport shooters would also be created by Mi Hazánk, as the sport shooting community is the most lawabiding segment of society. In addition to the annual qualifications required to keep sporting firearms in the home, Mi Hazánk would require at least 3 years of membership and a minimum of 10 certified competitions per year for registered sport shooters to carry a firearm on the street, in addition to a clean criminal record.

Mi Hazánk takes the example of Switzerland and the Czech Republic, the latter a country of 10.7 million, where almost everyone has the right to bear arms, and some 310,000 people use it as well. There is also a need to expand civilian gun control in Hungary for self-defence against criminals.

#### Let's ban usury!

In order to prevent financial abuse, the interest rate above which a claim is unenforceable in a Hungarian court should be set.

#### **Stricter penalties for animal torturers!**

The penalties for criminal offences relating to animal protection and environmental protection should be tightened up. Jail the people who deliberately torture animals!

#### **Appreciation to law enforcement workers!**

The right to live in safety and tranquillity is a fundamental right of every country and its citizens. To guarantee this right, a well-functioning, professional law enforcement organisation, independent of the authorities, is a prerequisite. The powers that be have a duty to ensure that the employees who choose these professions receive both financial and moral appreciation.

#### **Guarantees of high quality operation**

The state has a duty to ensure all conditions that guarantee the safe and high-quality operation of organisations in the long term. To ensure these conditions, adequate staff, equipment to meet the challenges of the 21st century and the right legal framework are essential. The organisations should pay particular attention to the protection of children, the elderly, women and people in difficult circumstances. We must also meet the challenges of the information technology sector, which has seen a dangerous increase in crime in recent years. Particular attention must be paid to preventing and eliminating online harassment to protect our children. Effective protection must be put in place to protect against internal and external cyber attacks.

#### Public safety in villages too!

The right to public safety should not be a privilege only for people living in the cities. In each of the settlements and the farms belonging to them, there should be a sufficient number of law enforcement forces on duty, so that help can arrive as soon as possible for our compatriots in distress! In this context, the old emergency call system (104, 105, 107) should be reinstated, while of course retaining the current one (112). This would be important because it would allow the nearest police station, ambulance station or fire station to receive and deal with incoming calls for help, and could, thus, save important minutes.

Priority should be given to supporting the setting up of field police in rural areas. And civic guard must be duly appreciated by the state.

#### Settling the financial situation

One of the most urgent tasks in law enforcement is to settle the financial situation of the personnel. It is unacceptable that there has been no increase in the police salary base since 2008, and currently a junior police officer barely earns the minimum wage for a skilled worker (for firefighters it is less than that). We do not need sound and unrealised career models. A new service law should be drafted, setting up a staffing and salary table that ensures progression up to retirement, both in professional and salary grades as well. The totally flawed performance evaluation system ("appearance money") needs to be redesigned, but its abolition should also be strongly considered. The common practice of county commanders and directors telling in advance how many employees can receive excellent, good, fair and unsatisfactory ratings in a given year must be changed.

#### Return the service pension to those entitled to it!

For employees in these organisations, the introduction of additional rights is essential to compensate for the additional obligations and restrictions on certain rights. The most important thing is to restore the service pension! Humiliated ex-service pensioners who are currently in receipt of a service allowance should have their pension status restored. We need to create a system that encourages employees to stay in the workforce only up to a certain, acceptable age, but that makes it worthwhile for them to stay. The system should ensure that if someone's health changes during their service or during the years they have served, and they are forced to retire, they should receive compensation, an annuity from the state in return for their service until then.

It is important to restore the Ministry of Interior's health care system to its former glory, with its own hospital. Recreational leave should be introduced, with a minimum of two weeks per year for all law enforcement employees. This leave can be taken in an appropriate establishment (holiday resort). An important task is to launch a rented flat program to help young people who choose this beautiful but difficult profession.

#### **Real rights for trade unions!**

It is very important to restore and even extend the rights of law enforcement trade unions, which have been eroded (working time reduction, provision of infrastructure, etc.). We also consider it justified to introduce a limited right to strike, but only under conditions that ensure maximum protection of the country's population and safe provision of services during an incidental work stoppage. Let law enforcement workers demonstrate again! We would ensure by law that employers and the relevant ministry have a duty to inform trade unions of any planned changes and to negotiate meaningfully to work them out. The need for the Hungarian Law Enforcement Board should be reviewed, because in its present form it is inappropriate for the representation of the interests of law enforcement workers.

#### New staff board for police and correctional service employees!

The police staff board should be rewritten to ensure that there is always enough police available in the given area. This will eliminate the never-ending overtime, secondments and replacements that cause staff overwork and burnout. All citizens, wherever they live, have the right to order and public safety. There must be a policeman in every village and its farms 24 hours a day! It is necessary to have a sufficient number of intervention forces on the ground, taking into account the public safety indicators of the municipality. New laws must be created to ensure that police officers who act or are acting lawfully and professionally have effective legal protection against criminals. Citizens must be made to feel that the police are for them and with them!

A new staff table should also be drawn up for prison staff to ensure that there are always enough staff available. This would be important to ensure that staff are always able to carry out their duties in a timely and planned manner, and that prison staff, who are already under considerable psychological strain, are not burdened with constant unpredictable call-outs and overtime.

#### **Disaster management: organisational changes**

This gigantic organisation is where radical change is needed the most. It costs the

country a great deal of wasted taxpayers' money to maintain and run this organisation in this form and with this number of staff. The National Directorate General for Disaster Management (OKF) was created during the first Orbán government, when it was seen as necessary to retain the staff (mainly officers and senior officers) of the various law enforcement organisations (the Hungarian defence forces, the border guard, the civil defence). This has resulted in a much larger than necessary number of senior managers and executives, who have found it difficult to be given the posts and responsibilities that are really needed. Within the disaster management organisation, everyday and effective work and interventions (also in disaster situations, e.g. floods) are carried out by firefighters. Of the OKF's approximately 12,000 personnel, a total of 7,000 are firefighters (platoon). Thus, it can be seen clearly that there are about 5,000 different disaster management "professionals". We don't need this many disaster workers!

The first and most important task is to separate the fire brigade and civil defence from the organisation. The National Fire Brigade Headquarters should be re-established as an independent law enforcement agency, and the county and city fire brigade headquarters should be subordinated to it. A new personnel and technical staff table should be set up to ensure that units are adequately staffed and equipped throughout the country. The Service Act should be amended in such a way that shift workers (24/48) also work 40 hours per week (in a half-yearly working time frame), in line with Directive 2003/88/EC. Overtime over 40 hours must be compensated by the employer in cash or free time at the employee's discretion. Consideration could also be given to setting up a system partly in conjunction with municipal fire brigades. The rank of firefighter may be worn only by those who are firefighters and hold a qualification. Firefighters should be excluded from the scope of military legislation because they are Civil defence should again be placed under not armed law enforcement personnel. the Hungarian Defence Forces, as it was in the past. Both organisations should, of course, be run exclusively by leaders with professional qualifications, solid professional experience and a high reputation among the staff. Every year, 8 August should officially be Firefighter Heroes' Memorial Day!

Mi Hazánk knows and feels that urgent and significant positive changes are needed in the field of law enforcement. The current situation with low wages, permanent staff shortages and inadequate recognition by the state, is unsustainable.

# Gypsy policy

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party that would eliminate the increasing number of nogo zones

We currently see that such areas are created in a large part of our settlements where the Hungarian state is incapable of maintaining the lawful order. In addition to public safety, there is another serious problem in these settlements/settlement parts whereby the valuables and real properties of people working honestly become continuously worthless and the work of a life is ruined.

This process has become increasingly bad in the recent thirty years. The governments of the recent period could not or did not want to face this issue. The complete failure of the liberal integration model has brought the increasingly

untenable conditions. They have only given rights and benefits, but they have not created expectations for these. Another great mistake was that they have handled Gypsies as a homogeneous social layer.

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party according to which Gypsy crime exists

Before 1990, i.e. the misappropriated regime change, Gypsy crime had been a widely used technical term of criminology. In Hungary the last time criminal statistics had taken into account the criminals of Gypsy origin had been between 1971 and 1989. However, according to Mi Hazánk, the problem has not terminated, what is more, with the doubling of the number of the Gypsies, this type of form of crime, organising on the basis of ethnicity, with subcultural circumstances has become a much more widespread form of crime. Today there are more and more typical forms of crime whose perpetrators are almost without exception related to the Gypsy ethnicity. An example for this is the so-called "grandchilding", whereby they call elderly people by phone, they misguide them and take their money by deception. Special law enforcement is necessary against the special forms of crime, therefore, the notion of Gypsy crime has to be identified; and, instead of the corrupt, so-called Roma politicians, the people have to be separated from the destructive individuals from among the Gypsies, in contrast with those who intend to live a life corresponding to norms and laws, with the involvement of decent Gypsy leaders. In accordance with this, the integration processes, the supports or sanctions, and the tasks can be separated, by assisting the builder; and the fight has to be launched against the destroyer by complying with the legal regulations and norms.

#### **Incorrect liberal Gypsy integration basic principles**

The liberal sociologists explain the main reason for the lack of integration of the Gypsies by poverty. They say that since they are poor and society also "differentiates them", thus their ability to enforce their interests has decreased, hence they cannot work and hence they cannot integrate either. In contrast with this, we say that poverty and any other external circumstance conditions the individual only to a certain degree (e.g. if somebody is poor, he/she does not heat with gas, instead with wood, or he/she does not heat the entire flat, instead only a room), but it does not determine him/her and does not force him/her to steal someone else's wood or does not obtain money by robbing. These acts are always born on the basis of the individual decision of the given person, not as the coercive outcome of external effects. Hence we can say that a person on low pension saves up, does not steal wood from the forest or chips and alcohol from the shop. The positive discrimination and the dark practice of livelihood crime are born from the above mentioned false principle.

#### Mi Hazánk is the only party that would stop the financing of Gypsy programs

We, on the other hand, say that poverty is not the main reason for the problems, instead the deep unpretending, the deep depraved condition of the soul, which entail the rubbishy environment, work-shyness, living of benefits, wasting the money and the endangerment of children, etc. This is why the billions of forints spent for Gypsy integration (which was stolen by the so-called "Gypsy" leaders in the meantime) have not resulted in real solutions, since it has been in vain that they have received

a nice house, the floor was burnt, the windows were sold and what the "Gypsy integration" experts intended to eliminate with billions have very quickly become shacks.

#### Degradation and deep unpretending

This point is of cardinal importance with respect to solving the problem. For this it is very important that the time of not intervening has already expired. Norms and rules of way of living have to be taken and introduced here. Only by becoming acquainted with the norms can they become more valuable members of the local community. Naturally, this cannot always be simple. There will be a layer that understands it easily that the trash cannot accumulate on the yard in piles, that waste collection is a public service that has to be utilised obligatorily, and that it is not allowed to sell or burn the trash can. But for the people who change with more difficulty, it has to be set that if they do not intend to comply with these basic norms, they will be punished with sanctions. If they do indeed feel that these sanctions are not only empty threats, the large part of the degenerated layer will start to follow this norm, and the promised sanction or punishment will have to be utilised only for a small part of them. The consistent work of the authorities has an enormous role in this.

## Mi Hazánk is the only party that would segregate in education as well

The liberal idea that Gypsy students do not receive quality education is false, since they go to the same school in most settlements and the same teachers teach them as everybody else. Handling the students as a homogeneous unity is a great mistake here as well. Students are heterogeneous, too, hence integration and segregation have to be applied according to this. We do not consider it appropriate to force integration at all costs. Their special and segregated education may be important – especially for children with troubled behaviour –, and it cannot be emphasised enough that education can have its positive effect only together with orderly home circumstances. Thus, emphasising the responsibility of the parents is very important in this as well.

# Bad operation of family assistance and child protection

Finally, the efficient and exact operation of the child protection and family assistance organisations are very important issues, which plays a key role in bringing up the generation of the future. The complex development of child protection is necessary. Increasing the salary of workers here, expanding the network of foster parents and developing the special institution network are necessary. It is important to contain the large-scale practice of irresponsible family starting as well, and it is also important to emphasise the responsibility of the parents with punishment, too, since the parent is responsible for the healthy physical-mental-intellectual-moral education of the child.

#### Let us end starting a family for subsistence!

Mi Hazánk is the first party in history that makes the issue of explosion of the Gypsy population as an important part of its program, and it also offers a solution to the problem, since it threatens with another Trianon, another

national tragedy. In Hungary there have been two demographic processes of opposite direction, in parallel, for decades. Whereas the Hungarians have diminished at a rate outstanding internationally as well, the Gypsies produce explosion of population typical for the Third World. The number of Gypsies has doubled every generation, meanwhile that of Hungarians has halved. While the number of Gypsies in Hungary had not reached 100,000 at the end of the 19th century, in the past thirty years the number of population considered as Gypsy has increased from 400,000 to 876,000. Meanwhile, the number of children bringing up in deep unpretending, among criminals, who do not even have a chance for adaptation, has increased.

In order to prevent the increasing social tensions, threatening an explosion, we will immediately establish the Family Planning Authority, whereby we will stop the irresponsible explosion of population that can be experienced among the Gypsies. The Family Planning Authority will deal with those people individually who evidently undertake children beyond their staying power, when they do not even have the intention to raise their children among decent circumstances. When both parents are criminals, alcoholics and/or drug addicts. When it is clear that it is only about family for subsistence or simply primitive irresponsibility.

In addition to detailed information, the Family Planning Authority will provide professional contraceptive tools (for example the placement of intrauterine device) for free in order to ensure that no children are born to deep unpretending en masse. We will phase out child motherhood, we will hold the parents of children before the age of 18 years to account. In certain cases, for example in gypsy camps not complying with the basic circumstances of hygiene, we will maximise the number of children to be borne. We will take out the children raised not among appropriate circumstances and we will initiate a procedure against the parents because of endangering the minor. The place where they take the children home should be a liveable real property, not a shanty! There should be a standard chimney, standard electricity, standard sewage and a waste collection contract. We will tie family allowance to work. After the third child we will tie all family support to work.

# Nation strategy

# Homeland for the working Hungarian people

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom is determined to represent the interests of the working Hungarian people and families in all areas of life and to implement the objectives and principles outlined in the Dawn Program. Only in this way can we become a safe, expanding and free nation.

#### Keeping the interests of all Hungarians in view

When elaborating all the elements of the nation policy, Mi Hazánk intends to take into account the entire nation, considering both the Hungarians living within the current borders, both our brothers fighting for retaining their Hungarian existence in the detached areas, moreover, in some respects, also our nation companions who live abroad on their own will or because of pressure of circumstances.

# Fending off the attacks!

We reject those attacks and attempts aimed at changing and watering down our national-Christian culture that intend to force on us and prefer various unnatural theories. In the course of elaborating the detailed elements of the nation strategy, the main standpoints are in every case the following: creation of the unity of the nation spanning on the borders; strengthening the national identity and the national unity, and consolidating our economy; expanding both the spiritual and financial resources of the country; creation of administration of justice instead of jurisdiction; and protection of our homeland from internal and external enemies.

#### Strategy of survival of Hungarians living abroad

The strategic basis of the survival of the Hungarians living abroad – no matter where they live – is that Hungary has to create complete safety. The Hungarian nation can be strong and expand only if we handle the Hungarians living abroad (both outside Hungary and in the stunted regions) as a unity in terms of nation policy, and we outline the main nation strategy objectives as a nation.

## **Country of the Saint Crown**

For strengthening the national identity and for protecting all the Hungarians, we take as a basis the Golden Bull and the Hungarian Saint Crown, which are, at the same time, the basic documents of the peace and equality of the nations living in the Carpathian Basin. If the education, economic background, health care, legal security and personal-physical safety of Hungarians living in the detached areas can be attained at an appropriate level, then all Hungarians can undertake their identity proudly, and they can feel themselves and their family as part of our nation, no matter where they live in the world.

#### **Outlander education strategy: exceeding the successor states**

The highest educational level required by the age has to be ensured to all the regions where Hungarians live – appropriately with regional centres –, supplemented with the conditions of healthy development. The personal and material conditions of our educational institutes have to exceed the possibilities and services provided by the surrounding ethnic groups, thereby also ensuring and making attractive the need and possibility of turning towards the culture of the native tongue. This has to include the accessibility of outstanding sports facilities for all the age groups in these centres.

The greatest ethnic difficulty of our nation part beyond the border is the mixed marriage. Only with the success of the above program can it be achieved that the children living there will turn toward the Hungarian culture. If we do not provide for them the secondary school leaving exam in Hungarian native language or the quality vocational school in the ages between 10-18, we will later lose them from the line of members of our nation. A positive counterexample of this is the Bethlen Residence Hall in Nagyenyed.

# Outlander economic strategy: everybody has to make good on the native country!

In contrast with the current practice, the activity of our nation companions has to be turned to both Hungary and their own regions as well, where currently the indigenous Hungarians live in minority. We provide a partial support for this, thus, multiplying the efficiency of the amount provided by us. In all cases we have to strive for making a lot of money from less money, so that we can make use of the "invested capital" for achieving the priorities, focusing on the economic efficiency, and not the construction of a servile, yet unstable clientele.

In order to ensure economic development, the locally educated experts have to be encouraged in the same way, they know the language and economic relation system of the successor state at the level of skills. We have to specifically support in each state the education of our students with "domestic" scholarships for economic successes. For example, where forestry is strong, with specification in forestry and wood industry; where the mining potential is high, with mining industry training; etc.

# Strategy of personal safety: all Hungarians are responsible for all Hungarians

No matter where Hungarian people live, or people with Hungarian ancestors, or people declare Hungarian culture as their own, Hungary has to lay claim to guarantee the personal safety for them. This has to be organised and emphasised partly by international agreements and partly justified by the universality of human rights. The network of graduates in law and legal assistants, well trained in the language of the successor states has to be ensured connected with the school centres, which could operate, at the same time, as legal advice service and points supporting economic development as well. The law and legal regulation materials of the state have to be known and applied the best by us. Hungary has to endeavour to achieve protective power status with respect to the attached areas, just like Austria exercises protective power status over Southern Tirol, which belongs to Italy, yet it is majority populated by German speakers.

# **International relations**

#### **European Union**

The EU currently operates as a globalist empire pushed to colonial course. It obviously aims at creating the United States of Europe, with the establishment of mixed population dreamt by the Austrian-Japanese politician and philosopher Coudenhove-Kalergi. The objective is the complete liquidation of the European nation states and thereby the opposition. The population of brown skin, established by moulding the faceless and rootless peoples of several continents, would be an excellent slave of the globalist spheres actually directing the European Union. By terminating the national opposition, the working masses are deprived of their most important cohesion, since only perhaps the trade unions would remain for the enforcement of their interests, yet we know it exactly that it is enough to weaken the trade union, buy and remove the leaders and the problem is solved immediately. However, a nation held together on blood relationship cannot be bought off or set aside easily.

The globalist forces consist of the leaders of the world's largest MNCs and banker dynasties. They are accompanied by the selected politicians and media leaders, who always play a subordinated role, since money is necessary for both politics and the media, and financiers have the money. The two main organisations of the globalist forces visible for the public are the Bilderberg Group and the World Economic Forum. There are major overlaps between the members of the two closed organisations, Klaus Schwab (executive chairman of the World Economic Forum) was also the member of the executive committee of the Bilderberg Group. The Bilderberg Group is a closed organisation consisting of the most influential people of the world (businessmen, financiers, scientists, media figures and politicians). The World Economic Forum is essentially a foundation that was founded by the world's thousand largest global MNCs and it has been directed by these gigantic multinational companies to this day.

Although these forces are international by their nature and they are present in all the continents, their headquarters are mainly located in New York, Paris and London. And since their historical-ideological predecessors were the Freemasons, it is understandable that the centre number one, the motherland of the globalists is the United States of America, which was practically founded by the Freemasons.

This globalist circle constitutes the "deep state" of the USA and the European Union as well, which encourages the establishment of the bipolar political system, the political alternating governments that can always be controlled easily. It practically makes no difference whether there is a Republican or Democrat president at the top of the USA, or whether there is a centre-right or social democratic-liberal leader at the top of the European Commission, the actual leadership is always in the hands of the deep state, and the financial, economic and political processes are directed by this globalist force, the deep state, according to its own interests. Thus, it is not a miracle that the European Union is actually considered as an American sphere of influence. Whether in or outside the NATO, European countries have for decades sent their soldiers to fight and die in the interests of America (and Israel, which is in symbiosis with the USA). At the price of countless European and American soldiers they have succeeded in bombing and continuously destabilising the Middle East, Northern Africa and Afghanistan, which brought safety to Israel and a lot of money to the globalist forces, and, at the same time, millions of migrants to Europe in the interest of the Kalergi-plan.

#### Northern civilisation in the West and East as well

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom has introduced a new concept, since according to the Movement, we Hungarians belong to the Northern civilisation extending from the Celtic cultural sphere, i.e. from the Irish sea to the Kamchatka Peninsula and Japan. This is the civilisation that has given light to the entire world with the classical music of the highest level, it has presented universal culture with geniuses such as Mozart, Haydn, Beethoven, Chopin, Liszt, Tchaikovsky, Puccini, Dvořák or Shostakovich. It has given geniuses such as Leonardo da Vinci, Michelangelo, the French Blaise Pascal, the Hungarian Albert Szent-Györgyi, and the Japanese Murasaki Shikibu, the writer-poet of the first novel of world literature. This civilisation has constructed fascinating buildings such as the Hungarian Parliament, the Neuschwanstein-castle in Germany, the Notre-Dame Cathedral in France, the Colosseum in Rome and the Eiffel Tower in

Paris. It is not by accident that this Northern civilisation, which at the time started in Northern Africa and the Middle East, conquered the people of the Southern Hemisphere, and not vice versa. We Hungarians belong to this Northern civilisation and we carry both its Eastern and Western inheritance as well.

We consider it necessary to retain our Western relations, moreover, we should promote and encourage the further continuation of the Eastern opening and the construction of relations with any friendly country. We consider it desirable to establish a partnership relation in our bilateral relations, where the parties are interested in correct co-operation on the basis of mutual advantages.

#### The Intermarium concept in the 21st century

For the sovereignty of Hungary we have to terminate the subordination role in which we have been since joining the European Union. The events going on for years in the neighbouring Ukraine demonstrate well how Hungary is not currently an independent country. It is obvious that the interests of two great powers, the USA and Russia, clash in the Ukraine. Serving the interests of the USA and the European Union, more precisely the globalist interests, Hungary has also slavishly and uncritically joined those economic sanctions against Russia which are very harmful to our country. Meanwhile, Ukraine, instead of thanking us, has launched anti-Hungarian activities of extent not seen before. The use of mother language of Hungarians is restricted in Transcarpathia, there have been terrorist attacks against the headquarters of the Cultural Alliance of Hungarians in Transcarpathia (KMKSZ) in Ungvár, and Hungarian politicians from Hungary and Slovakia are banned from entering Ukraine without any justification.

If Hungary were indeed an independent country, the codification of the results of the referendum of 1991 in Transcarpathia would be demanded, instead of the harmful economic sanctions against Russia, which are damaging to Hungary as well. And this referendum decided about the self-determination of Transcarpathia.

It is evident that Hungary and the other Central European countries sharing a common fate for centuries have identical interests. Our historical experience is that we always have to balance and have to struggle for retaining our independence between Western, Eastern and Southern great powers. It is also unambiguous that we depend on each other and we can easily become vulnerable against the great powers. As there is currently no geopolitical balance, since the so-called West (the globalists of Western root) treats us as a colony, we obviously have to open vis-à-vis the East – and within this, Russia, belonging to the Northern civilisation –, what is more in general vis-à-vis the entire world at large. Naturally, this primarily means economic relations, not political dependence. And to increase our weight and to be taken seriously, we will have to establish the Intermarium alliance.

This has to be built on the traditional Hungarian-Polish friendship and historical alliance. The Intermarium (Latin for "Between-Seas") concept was elaborated by the Poles in the 1920s, this encouraged the collaboration of the Eastern Central European region, extended from the Baltic Sea to the Adriatic Sea. Under the current circumstances the following countries would join Poland and Hungary in the first round of the Intermarium: the Czech Republic and Slovakia, the two other member states of the Visegrád Group; Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, the Baltic states; moreover,

Austria, Croatia and Slovenia. These countries constitute a common fate in the historical and cultural sense, but also with respect to their current political situation.

The accession of Serbia and Romania may be a question, these countries have a significant Hungarian national minority, their geopolitical situation would also justify that they should attach to the Intermarium alliance, however, Serbs and Romanians belong to the East in terms of culture and religion, and the actual Romanian leadership often submits to America slavishly, in addition to its hatred of Hungarians.

The Intermarium alliance would be sufficiently strong to balance between the West and the East, retaining the independence of the countries of the alliance, and cultivating economic and trade relations lucrative in both directions; meanwhile it would be able to counterbalance the attempts of the globalist leadership of Brussels and the complete replacement of the European population to a mixed empire society without national borders, through the continuous support of migration.

#### Should we be members or free?

The concept based on strengthening the national economy and national sovereignty, which is called the Dawn Program, conflicts the current Western European globalist, i.e. EU and Brussels, efforts. In other words, the objectives set by Mi Hazánk could not be implemented in the current EU. There are two ways to be able to restore the independence of Hungary:

- 1. We change the current European Union.
- 2. We leave the European Union.

The continuous attack of the European-level nation strengthening attempts of the recent years and the violent process whereby the globalist leadership of the EU intends to assimilate Europe to a globalist empire instead of nations, currently shows that in the 2020s we will have to prepare for life outside the EU. Naturally, there still is some chance to change the current EU – especially if the weight of forces intending to change the EU would increase with the establishment of the Intermarium –, if this is successful, we can only win with it if we strengthen the independence and national economy of Hungary.

#### We are net payers

Moreover, we think that the membership of the EU primarily serves the former, socalled core countries, amounts significantly greater compared to the money received from the alliance flow from our country, and they enrich the countries considering us as a mere market and utilising the cheap workforce, raw materials and lower salary level here. Namely the Western European MNCs take out more profit from Hungary each year than the amount of money that arrives to Hungary from the EU.

#### We demand partnership of equals

We are not against the rational co-operation within Europe, however, we are not willing to belong to an alliance where there are core countries enjoying privileges, and nations of adverse situation, looked down and pushed to the periphery. We readily work in the Europe of nations, we make efforts and we make sacrifices for the improvement of our own and surrounding world, in an alliance of equal countries.

Mi Hazánk is the only party that would hold a referendum about our EU membership. However, if the intellectual, economic and moral destruction of the EU turns out to be irreversible for good, Mi Hazánk Mozgalom would hold a referendum in 2029 about whether we should remain a member of the EU, similarly to the Brexit referendum. In case the negative answer gets majority, the start of the exit process may be started in 2030. However, until then, we can start the implementation of this program, at the worst infringement processes, otherwise meaningless, will last for at most several years. We do not have to fear from the exit in terms of the economy either: the current EU subsidies make up 4% of the GDP, whereas the Western companies take out 7% of the GDP. And this ratio will be even worse than this after 2021, since the cohesion funds will decrease and it is expected that we will be net payers in 2028. If we are no longer members of the EU, there would be no embargo for us with Russia, and we could maintain our current economic relations with most EU member states with international agreements in parallel with this.

# Mi Hazánk is the only party that would withdraw Hungary from the jurisdiction of the Court of Strasbourg

According to Mi Hazánk, the prison conditions in Hungary are indeed undeserved: these are undeservedly good compared to what the politician criminals would deserve. Withdrawal from the jurisdiction of the Court of Strasbourg is necessary, otherwise the prison compensation business, becoming almost an industry, cannot be slowed down in any other way. Whoever says differently or promises self-sustaining prisons, meanwhile maintaining the jurisdiction of the Court of Strasbourg, this would not only infringe our self-determination, but it would also protect the condemned criminals.

# Mi Hazánk is the only party that would not allow legal migrants arriving in Hungary from outside Europe as well

One of the main objectives of Mi Hazánk is to achieve the revision of contracts/treaties unfavourable or unfair to us, as far as possible we should withdraw from the disadvantageous relations or attempt to change the conditions in a favourable direction. After 2030, the European Union restrictions and obligations would be replaced by such bilateral or multilateral international agreements that are beneficial for all the parties, following the example of Switzerland. In addition to the economic aspects, the political dangers have to be seen as well: for example, forcing us the LGBTQP lobby and migration cannot be accepted in any form at all.

#### **Recognition to the Hungarians!**

We expect that the following should be recognised: our past, the value of our actions, our situations of relationship, our linguistic affiliation, and our right to national togetherness, democratic self-determination and independent nation's existence, primarily in our system of alliance, but also among countries beyond that. In the future we will intend to work, among others, to remedy crimes and injustices committed against us, including our financial compensation as well, with all the legal tools available within the framework of real policy!

#### **Tenacious protection of interests**

We will continuously remind our affected neighbours and the international community that the minorities living in the regions belonging to the Saint Crown had not been subject to oppression or exploitation. The entire historic Hungary had developed dynamically, in the annexed regions – similarly to the other parts of the country – we had previously created the infrastructure, promoted the culture and established a developed system of institutes of education and administration. The entire population, including also the minorities, could fully enjoy the complete and universal freedom of religion, equality before the law, and freedom of the press and opinion.

#### **Self-determination!**

Due to the fact that we support the endeavours of autonomy of indigenous Hungarian communities, and we demand the education and use of the mother language, moreover, taking the measures representing the guarantee of freedom ensuring the use of national symbols. We firmly take steps and protest against all the attempts aimed at the assimilation of the indigenous Hungarians.

## No to multiculturalism, Hungary belongs to the Hungarians!

We declare that our foreign politics should take action on all forums against the propagation of: neoliberal multiculturalism; migrant-friendly politics; failed Marxist ideologies; the crazy gender theory; the unlimited legalisation and popularisation of abortion disguised in various forms; and other anti-nation and anti-family attempts. Our Christian culture and our ancient traditions cannot be subject to bargaining, we firmly reject all attempts aimed at giving up or changing them!

# **Family policy**

## The greatest danger

The greatest problem of Hungarians is the decrease in population, which has afflicted our homeland for more than forty years. There are less Hungarians year after year and the family policy of the Orbán government could not change this. And if there are no Hungarian children, then there is no sense in talking about anything else: we devise the country, the culture, our traditions and our goods to them. According to Mi Hazánk, our most important task in the 21<sup>st</sup> century is to make the Hungarians a nation increasing in population again, for which a radical intervention is necessary. At the same time, undertaking a large family still represents an enormous poverty risk, greater than, for example, being a pensioner.

#### We cannot be a Gypsy country!

The population of the Hungarians halves each generation, whereas that of Gypsies doubles, called Béla Pokol the attention to this trend in his book entitled Final Days of Europe, however, the Hungarian governments in the recent thirty years have not taken this question seriously, what is more they have supported the Gypsies in the hope of easily purchasable votes. Hence today the situation is extremely serious: according to the researchers of the University of Debrecen, it is expected that in 2034 more Gypsy children will be born than Hungarian. Do we want this?

#### Family supports following the inflation!

Similarly to pensions, Mi Hazánk would guarantee it in law that family supports should follow the inflation, thus, these would retain their value. There are supports that have not increased for more than a decade, and, therefore, these are worth

much less today than upon their introduction. All the supports of child raising should be made of stable value for the calculable and predictable future, so that the families can calculate with safety the benefits they are entitled to rightly.

# **Decreasing the VAT!**

Mi Hazánk would decrease the VAT of goods necessary for child raising to the lowest possible level in such a way that the price decrease stemming from this would be also guaranteed in law. This is a measure that would indeed decrease the expenses spent for children, thus, the purchased products would indeed go to those people who use those for them. It cannot be allowed that even a simple school start should entail taking a loan for the families.

## Increasing the accommodation of nursery schools and pre-nurseries

It is essential that – instead of tricks – the accommodation of nursery schools and pre-nurseries should be indeed increased greatly, since the state can thus ensure the board of children during the daytime. Moreover, it is essential that the financial situation of the workers there should be improved as well, since the personal stability is especially important in the case of small children, so that they do not have to break from their educators several times. The expansion of the employment of mothers cannot be imagined without the creation of accommodations. At the same time the pre-nursery care fee introduced by the Orbán government has to be abolished.

# Mother-friendly workplaces!

In Europe in the 21<sup>st</sup> century productivity is higher in those countries where more women work, thus, this relation has turned compared to the previous generation. Therefore a demographic turn is necessary to allow mothers who would like to work, in addition to child bringing as well, we should provide a substantive opportunity for this. In Hungary the labour market punishes the mothers if they give birth to a child: they can return to their subsequent workplace often for a lower salary. This has to be changed: mothers should have at least as many opportunities than all other employees. Flexibility and the organisation of training during the time spent at home with the child are key issues.

# Introduction of full-time parenthood with appropriate guarantees

According to Mi Hazánk each and every Hungarian child is a public treasure, thus, we have to roll all obstacles from the birth of wanted children. At the same time we see that there are less and less very large families among the women currently in the child-bearing age, although they could assist in the situation of our homeland greatly in terms of demography. Therefore, we intend to create the possibility of full-time parenthood for those who would like to devote their life to child-bearing, with appropriate guarantees (e.g. qualifications, former permanent work relationship, having no record). We will provide securities of appropriate financial sources and benefits for this.

# Mi Hazánk is the only party that would protect the life of the embryos by listening to their cardiac sound

The abortions requested without justification, performed "at announcement" have to be ended. The current Constitution prescribes it in principle that "the life of the embryo is entitled to protection starting from the conception", however, this is not fulfilled at all. The induced abortion can be requested without justification, with reference to a "serious crisis situation", not determined, and it is performed with state support without the examination and checking of the situation. The conceived child is already a live human being, and, thus, he/she is entitled to all human rights. Mi Hazánk Mozgalom struggles not only for the rights of these most innocent and most defenceless people, in harmony with the religious teaching of nature right and the Christian churches, instead it also struggles for the parents bearing them "as burden", endangered in their fertility. Almost 30 thousand abortions occur each year in our homeland drifted into a "national holocaust" (meanwhile the number of births is only approximately 90 thousand per year), many view it as a sort of contraception, or only as a light intervention similar to a dentist's routine treatment, and not even the mother receives information about the weight and consequences of her decision. Therefore, it would be justified to examine for example the current Polish regulation, whereby more and more people can feel the parent's role, seemingly impossible in the beginning, as an expecting or even blessed condition.

Standing on the ground of Christian and essential human morale, Mi Hazánk would like to give a chance to the child of fetal age – for the life. All of these without condemning any family member, since the women are also victims very often in the case of abortions. Mi Hazánk recommends that embryos should at least once in their life can "communicate" with their mothers, indicating it to them and making them aware that they are not only a chunk of cells, instead they are feeling human beings. Thus, the recommendation represents information, not tightening up. Moreover, it is essential to strengthen the state social net in an observable and major way for those mothers who end up in a difficult financial and family situation, deciding for the life of their child.

#### **Environmental management and environmental protection**

Mi Hazánk Movement considers itself as Europe's first green national radical party as well. It is extremely important for us to provide effective answers to the challenges of climate change that can be experienced specifically and affecting the agriculture as well, or to the environmental pollution more and more unbearable all over the world. We declare that if somebody loves the homeland, he/she is obviously a protector of the environment.

#### Changing the approach

The specific importance of protecting the environment and the development of the environmentally conscious approach has to be started already in childhood and it has to be mediated towards children and the adult-society with various programs. The various forms of environmental pollution have to be opposed with the assistance of continuous popular education, not sparing money and energy, providing an example. At the same time, those individual initiatives have to be supported with all the tools

that provide apartments in the countryside, local jobs and the repository of forms of livelihood. Our ancestors were, consciously or instinctively, aware of the importance of their role played in the food supply of the country, in protecting the environment and in the reproduction of the natural resources. Thus, we encourage all our compatriots to bravely turn to those traditions which provided a basis to our ancestors for living worthy existence in the countryside for centuries, not rejecting the results, tools and methods of the modern world.

#### Waste management

It is our task to review the current system with respect to waste and trash management and to find a solution for penalizing the pollution of the environment without consequences. We deem it necessary to take such measures that decrease the current level of excessive household and industrial waste production and handle unprincipled illegal waste disposal as a crime.

#### **Protection of our rivers**

We encourage bilateral negotiations and using international forums as well in order to decrease the quantity of waste and polluting materials arriving on rivers from abroad and to achieve that the costs of release should be borne by the countries of origin.

Mi Hazánk concerns the importance of the protection of environment, nature and animals, and the direction of related actions. Our most important mission is the protection of the natural treasures of the Carpathian Basin, moreover, achieving the conscientious applicability of the given resources, whereby we intend to establish the responsibility vis-à-vis our successors and the satisfactory essential conditions of the future generations. Zöld Hazánk ("Our Green Homeland", the environmental/nature/animal protection cabinet of Mi Hazánk) intends to implement its objectives with the following strategy.

#### Preventing and decreasing environmental pollution

Supervision of the cleanliness of soil, waters and air, decreasing the points of pollution, and elaboration of preventive measures. In case of industrial facilities: strict checking of the limit values related to the issue of materials polluting the environment, imposing serious sentences in the case of violation. Preparation of strategic plans in connection with exceptional cases (disruption, leakage, stoppage, natural catastrophes, etc.)

#### Decreasing the environmental burden effect of urbanisation

Increasing the formation of natural areas, use of environmentally friendly building materials in cities. The objective of planting green parks with forests and woods is not only to absorb the carbon dioxide, but it is important to decrease heat islands as well, thus, the green zones can cool the large cities in the periods when temperature is unbearably high.

#### Changing the environmentally conscious approach of trade and industry

Phasing out plastic pollution in all the areas, decreasing single-use products and emphasizing reusable materials. Introduction of eco-friendly packaging materials, encouraging appeals for economical purchasing. Supplanting technical goods of bad quality and short lifetime from trade.

#### **Protection of the natural environment**

Mapping and increased protection of national parks, nature conservation regions,

Natura 2000 areas, and protected species and plants. Checking sources of pollution in protected areas, elaboration and implementation of regional rehabilitation plans for the termination of existing points of pollution.

# **Tightening the laws on the protection of animals**

Introduction of a strict system of punishment in the case of torturing animals, unjustified hormone treatment, and the use of insufficient or low-quality fodder. Termination of fur farms, strict control of stockbreeding farms, involving independent experts. Special control of farmers dealing with breeding indigenous animals, final ban of livestock farming activities in the case of crimes of torturing animals, moreover, an obligation to repay the total amount of state subsidy.

Protection of Hungarian products, expansion of ecological farming opportunities The following are special objectives of organic farming: protection of the environment, protection of the health of consumers, maintenance and expansion of biological diversity, strengthening the natural self-regulating processes, and decreasing the adverse environmental effects stemming from the unprofessional use of pesticides and incorrect nutrient management. It is of special importance that the goods produced and sold by Hungarian producers should come to the front vis-à-vis the goods arriving from distant countries. Encouraging farmers to establish further networks of production, commercial expansion of raw materials and finished goods of bio-rating. Increasing the production of products in demand, representing market value, development of the suppressed international agricultural market.

#### Supporting farmers representing indigenous, traditional value

Further utilisation of the favourable weather of the Carpathian Basin for the work of farmers, special support of the production of indigenous fruits such as plum, apple, pear, cherry, peach and apricot. Increased protection of indigenous domestic animals raised in an almost unchanged form for centuries, and that preserved their characteristics, and the support of breeding these. Utilisation of the domestic market of farmers of newly introduced fruits, such as persimon, sandthorn, fig and kiwi. Assisting the development of further beekeeping based on favourable environmental conditions and natural circumstances.

#### Ensuring the opportunities of utilising natural resources

Urging the use of renewed and renewable resources. Supporting the operation of green energy cars, supporting the opportunity of using these. Endeavor for efficient energy management by promoting the construction of solar cells of both industrial and household sizes. Appraisal of the opportunity of wind turbines and studying its implementation.

#### Introduction of new technologies in waste management

Subsurface placement of selective waste collectors, introduction of the application of code card operation methods. Development of waste yards, establishment of new facilities. Checking illegal waste facilities, application of stricter penalties in the case of catching in the act.

#### **Development of communication and education**

The factual disclosure of the data of comparison and differentiation related to sustainability is essential in connection with both Hungary and internationally. It is necessary to elaborate information along well-visible professional arguments, hence people can assess the importance of problems affecting our homeland and how they

can identify with the given objective and the viewpoint of acting. Organisation of events and conferences in the issues of climate and environmental protection, utilisation of publication opportunities. Introduction of targeted environmental education as a subject, development of the tools of schools, supporting the professional preparedness of these.

# **Economic policy and finances**

# Instead of being a colony, we want sovereign economy built on selfdetermination!

As a result of the economic policy of globalist-liberal spirit of the past thirty years, Hungary has ended up in an almost colonial status: the low salaries, the multinational capital of foreign ownership and the Hungarian oligarchs close to politics determine the economic processes, instead of building on our natural endowments and creating products with high value added, which would make it possible to pay higher salaries as well. Instead of people-centered standpoint, money and profit-centered economy is typical. Mi Hazánk would change this drastically: the appreciation of Hungarian people and the salaries ensuring decent living are primary viewpoints in our economic policy.

#### Mitigation of damages caused by the coronavirus policy

Unfortunately, the Hungarian government followed the global economic protocol surrounding the coronavirus, thus, it has caused enormous damages to the Hungarian economy. The Hungarian private entrepreneurs, small taxpayer businesses, micro and small enterprises, whose income has bottomed in 2020 and 2021, on average, at 50 percent of their income in 2019, will be entitled to a re-starting support, the coverage of this will be provided by the usufructuaries of the coronavirus, i.e. the global companies (pharmaceutical industry, vaccine producers, tech companies, MNCs, banks, casinos) that realised extra profit as a result of the artificial coronavirus crisis demonstrably.

#### State debt and inflation

By giving up the independence of Hungary, it was practically high treason that a process started from the 1980s whereby our country was indebted to an increasing degree, and in parallel with the liquidation of the national economy, the Hungarian state was completely at the mercy of the globalist circles, and debt slavery was established, and the international financial circles and MNCs control the Hungarian economy. This is the reason why Hungary is drifting almost helpless currently as well, when inflation has unleashed all over the world because of the coronavirus (more precisely the Great Reset, the new world order referring to the coronavirus). In 2021 global inflation has increased to a level not seen since the financial crisis of 2008, it may be at least 5% on average. At the same time, the Hungarian state debt has jumped brutally as well. In order to offset the mistaken economic measures because of the coronavirus and the loss of production because of the economic stoppages caused by the lockdowns, the government has reacted with spending. As a result, the GDP-proportional level of state debt increased to over the psychological level of 80% already in 2021. Thus, the state debt has increased to the tragic level of the 1990s, after which the Bokros tightening package came, but the promise of decreasing the state debt in the past ten years has vanished as well, since we are currently at around the neighborhood of the catastrophic government debt level bringing state bankruptcy after the destruction of the Gyurcsány government between 2004 and 2010. This is

outrageous also because the Fidesz government at that time justified the nationalisation of the private pension net worth with the aim of decreasing government debt. In contrast, after the nationalisation of the net worth of the Hungarian people, the state debt of Hungary, as a ratio of the GDP, decreased only slightly, and by now we have returned to the former tragic level close to the near-state bankruptcy, because of the coronavirus lockdowns. Moreover, the Hungarian state is indebted in foreign exchange again, namely in September 2021 the Orbán government performed a record level of one-day new debt issue of all time, it originated a debt of HUF 1,258 billion at today's rate during a single day. In the framework of the bond issue the Hungarian state accepted an offer of USD 2.25 billion of the 10-year USD bond and USD 2 billion of the 30-year bond. The State Debt Management Agency ("ÁKK") increased its international foreign exchange issue limit of limit amount of EUR 4 billion, appearing in its financing plan.

The aim of Mi Hazánk is the construction of the national economy and decreasing state debt, since until we can reach this, we are completely vulnerable to all the global events, which is apparent in connection with the coronavirus as well. This is why we demand the immediate releasing of the lockdowns and this is why we do not support any measures that may cause any damage to the Hungarian economy, enterprises, employers and employees, referring to the coronavirus. It is necessary to re-plan and re-schedule the state debt. In addition to several alternative solutions, the so-called significant debt relief can be considered as well, this may occur in any of the following forms: by prolonging the term, with a payment moratorium for a shorter duration, by decreasing the interest rate or by decreasing the extent of principal debt. A significant part of the current state debt has to be kept domestically, too, and financing it has to be performed with the financing model applied in Japan.

#### The financial sector has to serve Hungarian interests!

The independence of a self-dependent nation or a nation targeting self-dependence is greatly influenced by its dependence on the international monetary systems and its exposure to the processes of the world economy. This is why we deem it important that our monetary institutes are held domestically, and local moneys are created and local payment systems are developed, which would strengthen the local economy and trade, and with which we can gradually pull out our economy from the effect of speculative and manipulative financial processes.

The National Bank of Hungary ("MNB") indeed has to represent Hungarian interests and not the interests of a narrow international and domestic financial elite! The MNB has not properly performed the protection of the forint, the Hungarian national legal tender, for several years. Regularly, it does not intervene in the adverse processes directed from abroad with a speculative nature when it would be necessary to do so in the interest of the Hungarian enterprises and workers. We would add it in the Act on the central bank that the MNB should also manage specially the requirements of Hungarian employment, in addition to the stability of the exchange rate.

Currently, the operation of the MNB is not transparent enough, we would change it, the Parliament has to exercise its supervision and accounting rights stipulated in the law as well, in full scope and strictly. It is unacceptable that the profit created in the course of the annual management of the MNB becomes invisible via private foundations, "it loses its public money character". The MNB should be obliged to pay

its profit to the budget, the compensation of the foreign exchange loan victims can be supported from this amount, if a bank becomes bankrupt, or the national economy stimulation state investments of the Dawn Program can be financed in part from this.

# How much does it cost?

For the implementation of the national economy creation according to the Dawn Program, HUF 1,500 billion would be necessary for the first initial economic steps from the Hungarian budget, and a total of HUF 3,000 billion would be necessary for the full-scope implementation of the national economy program: for the recovery of the Hungarian economy and for the restoration of total economic sovereignty. At first hearing HUF 3,000 billion – this is not money down the drain, instead an investment in the future – may appear a lot, but how much is it at the state level, compared with other expenditures?

- This is 6% of the GDP annually,
- This is the amount that the MNB provided for the protection of the financial system,
- This is how much the government took away from the private pensions in 2002,
- This is HUF 1,000 billion more than what the government placed to the epidemiological and economy protection fund in 2020 alone,
- The complete Gyurcsány package,
- This is the value of 15 Puskás Stadiums.

The amount necessary for the implementation of the Dawn Program would be covered by the termination of corruption totalling thousands of billions of HUF each year, which can be realised by complying with the strict anti-corruption laws and the establishment of the Anti-Corruption Prosecutor's Office.

#### Minimum wage

The introduction of the salary system based on the so-called Swiss model appears among our plans, the essential motives of this is the introduction of the minimum wage and that each employee should receive the same salary for identical work. When elaborating this, we intend to build on the international examples and practices, and we intend to rely on the opinion of the experts. This would greatly assist in increasing the salaries in the countryside as well.

#### Inventions

Another tool of strengthening our national economy may be that we keep the Hungarian inventions in Hungary, we prevent that rich MNCs obtain the Hungarian inventions for almost nothing, or that they obtain the rights of authors/inventors with legal manipulations. We would promote this with the establishment of a national centre of invention and innovation.

#### **Decreasing bureaucracy**

Hungary is practically bound and paralysed by red tape, which often serves the corrupt power. Wide-ranging decrease of red tape is essential, the authority procedures, tax returns and administration have to be accelerated and simplified, with more results than currently. At the same time, the system has to be made transparent, too, the regular mind-boggling ransoms have to be terminated, these appear, for example, in the areas of distraints, management of claims, and parking as well.

# **Tax policy**

#### Fair payment of public dues!

The consequence of the mistaken economic policy of the past years and decades is that Hungary has followed the example of South American type states for a long time, namely a small social layer has been established with wealth considered as ultra-rich internationally as well, while the majority, millions of the people have become poor and have fallen behind. The social scissors have opened gradually. In contrast, Mi Hazánk would like a fair and organic society, one of the most important characteristics of this is proportional and equitable payment of public dues.

The tax burden of the minimum wage is the greatest in the European Union, moreover, Hungary is also in the vanguard with respect to the taxes and allowances debiting the employees and employers. Moreover, the extent of the VAT is one of the greatest in the world, thus, this has made life more difficult for the society and the people with low income the most, via the rise in prices of, for example, basic foodstuffs and services. The real income of the Hungarian population has changed catastrophically in the past 15 years compared to the Western European salaries determined as a reference, moreover, the countries of our region have all left Hungary behind, and by today we have reached the stage that even Romanian households consume more than Hungarians (thus, they live better as measured by this figure).

We will gradually decrease the rate of the VAT, as a first step we will decrease the VAT of basic foodstuffs and goods necessary for child rearing in such a way that we would also guarantee in law the price decrease stemming from this as well. For the more just payment of public dues, we will introduce a multiple tiered personal income tax system, in such a way that everybody until the income of HUF 1.2 million would bring home more as net salary. We will not increase taxes and we will retain all the family tax allowances.

#### Pandemic solidarity tax to the usufructuaries of the coronavirus!

While the overwhelming majority of the country has got into a worse situation during the closures because of the coronavirus, and hundreds of thousands of people have lost their jobs, there are MNCs that have realised extra profit. Vaccine manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies, tech giants, trade MNC chains and casino owners have all increased their income significantly, they have practically profiteered from the coronavirus, thus, we would impose a pandemic solidarity tax on them. According to Mi Hazánk it can be expected that they also take a share from the costs of protection and the prevention of the damages. We should not increase the state debt, the usufructuaries of the coronavirus should pay a tax!

#### Wealth tax to the billionaire oligarchs!

Mi Hazánk would call the oligarchs to account, however, retaking the public wealth can succeed only via the wealth tax imposed on billionaires because of the legalised politician crime in many cases, and Mi Hazánk would not like to make empty promises, instead we plan actual and radical steps in this area as well. Furthermore, taxing the billionaires is justified and fair also because the social scissors between the poor and the rich have opened more and more, the social mobility has decreased, thus, the greater tax of the billionaires is necessary.

# **Education**

# Handle it at its place!

None of the governments of the recent thirty years has handled Hungarian education at its right place: neither the professional appreciation nor its sufficient financing has been ensured appropriately. The left-liberal governments had performed waves of closing schools, the municipality normative had been decreased continuously, yet Fidesz has provided a bad answer to this phenomena by establishing the Klik and by obligatory and uniform maintenance by the state.

#### Students do not even learn how to read

The consequence of the decrease in the level of education is that by today a significant and increasing part of the teenagers are at the lowest level of measurement from understanding text, i.e. they do not understand what they read. An enormous social damage is caused by the fact that the governments of the recent thirty years have not taken the problem seriously, they have attempted to sweep this under the carpet, the consequences of this can be perceived not only in education, but in the entire society.

## Prestige of vocational training back!

The decline in quality has particularly affected vocational education and training, thus, undermining its prestige. Unfortunately, such students typically apply to these institutions whose performance is extremely poor. However, dropout rates remain high, and the Fidesz-introduced Bridge programs have not lived up to the expectations. This form of education is still not suitable for equipping disadvantaged children with marketable skills on a large scale.

# Successful and happy children

The aim of education is to bring up successful and happy people who respect and embrace the traditions of our nation, who see their work as a vocation and a creative endeavour, and who are conscious citizens of our homeland. Equipping our young people to meet the challenges of the 21st century is vital for the acquisition of modern knowledge: this requires huge progress in the teaching of IT, English and physical education, while at the same time strengthening national identity to protect our identity.

# **Prepare for life!**

In addition to this, schools have a huge responsibility to prepare our children for life: in addition to the family, it is also necessary to emphasise the importance of awareness in education. Students should be equipped with useful knowledge rather than pseudosciences. It is important to bear in mind that we need to prepare them not only for the professions, but also for a healthy family life: the vast majority of our young people will be mothers and fathers, but they hardly ever hear about this role. Moreover, the recent LGBTQP propaganda has been proven not only to "sensitize" but to influence and divert them from this direction, and this cannot be allowed.

#### We bring up as well

According to Mi Hazánk, education is not only a knowledge transfer, but also upbringing, and therefore we reject the otherwise non-existent value neutrality in schools. There are universal human values that should be an example for all Hungarian children to follow through Christian culture, so we consider it essential to pass them on. Teachers, who spend most of their time with our children, are extremely important but not the only actors in this process, but their work cannot be effective without the support of the family, media and cultural actors. Mi Hazánk believes that it is necessary to launch far-reaching reforms in our education policy. We want to work to raise the esteem of the teaching profession, while at the same time educating young people in primary and secondary education about the elements of our history that we can be proud of.

#### **Children's movement**

As adults, most of us have fond memories of scouting if we were part of this Christian and nationalist children's movement as children. But the need for a general children's movement has never been greater. On the one hand, parents are overworked, or work several jobs at once, or regularly work overtime, so in today's fast-paced world they have less time for their children than they would like. On the other hand, the globalist intellectual poison is already flowing through smartphones and the Internet to minors, who are increasingly building virtual relationships through social networks, and are being raised in a Zuckerbergian world of money-centred deviance. What is needed, therefore, is a children's movement that is patriotic and moral, where every child can become a member alongside school, where they can build a real community, make friends and have unforgettable experiences that will last a lifetime, for example through state-supported camps. Not to mention the fact that our children's physical and mental health is much better served by fun, outdoor social activities than by being stuck at home all day playing on the computer alone.

#### Segregation instead of forcing integration at all costs!

Mi Hazánk is the only party which, contrary to the practice of the past thirty years, has declared that segregation is needed in education in certain cases, rather than forcing integration at all costs. So we would allow those who are unable to meet the standards to leave school.

The opposite is true of spontaneous segregation: parents who want their children to be safe are forced to take them to a school in another settlement. We put an end to this: parallel classes and institutions would be created by Mi Hazánk. On the basis of ability, we want to introduce the pejorative institution of "segregation", which serves the clearly positive purpose of ensuring that keeping young people of different abilities in the same class does not hinder the development of the more able pupils, while at the same time allowing the less able to catch up through a special education program, depending on their abilities.

#### **Boarding schools!**

This is an effective solution for educating the underprivileged Gypsies to learn and

work. In a boarding school, they would be placed in an environment where they would receive a decent education, which would also lead to their future well-being. It is needed for children who cannot or do not want to integrate into the current education system. The funds would be covered by the family allowances of the persons concerned and by the dormitory normative.

# Teachers: financial and moral respect, professional freedom, disciplinary rights

Teachers' careers have been introduced with professional mistakes and unrealistic solutions, overburdening them with administration while they have to deal with more and more problem children. Their salaries are still low, below the average graduate salary over the last thirty years. Their disciplinary powers are effectively gone, as is their professional freedom, which has been severely curtailed. According to Mi Hazánk, without their appreciation there is no quality education, and politicians must trust them.

#### Success in the 21st century: it will not work without IT

Keeping pace with the ubiquitous technological progress is a prerequisite for the transfer of modern knowledge, which is why we need to reform and make IT education more relevant. We need to educate our children to become informed users who are also aware of the dangers they face on the Internet and can deal with them effectively. We need to equip them with the skills that will enable them to practice their profession to the highest possible standards.

#### Let us at least learn English!

There is a need to catch up with the rest of Europe in terms of English language skills, as we are one of the laggards in this field: from the fifth grade onwards, we would teach English in small groups, and make it exclusive at least in primary schools. Let us learn not two languages to some extent, but one language well!

#### Healthy body: from the most obese nation in Europe to a healthy one!

The introduction of daily physical education was justified, but the necessary infrastructural development is insufficient. In the 21st century, with the rise of sedentary lifestyles and working from home, there is a growing need to introduce regular physical activity: it is vital to develop the next generation's need for it, while making it a natural part of their everyday lives.

#### **Education for family life**

Lately, the LGBTQETC lobby has also appeared in schools, and is increasingly aggressively claiming space for itself, using its propaganda to influence our young people. Mi Hazánk believes that the future of Hungarians in the 21st century can only be secured by strengthening the traditional family model, and we therefore urge the strengthening of this model and the transmission of information on childbearing and marriage as fully as possible.

# **Reducing violence in schools is vital**

The difficulties of Hungarian-Gypsy coexistence are becoming more and more serious in education, and this is also manifested in the spread of violence in schools. Mi Hazánk considers the introduction of the school police to be a superficial measure, which is not capable of reducing school violence in any meaningful way, as it does not address the root of the problem. It is no wonder that violence in schools has been on the rise in recent decades, with the primary cause being family violence, but education must also provide an answer to this. Mi Hazánk declares zero tolerance for violence in schools: it is intolerable that normal children who want to learn should be the victims of anti-social behaviour.

#### Let us not exclude local governments from the life of schools!

Instead of a rule of thumb of state maintenance, we need a fair system in which the municipality can be the maintainer or operator. State intervention is needed in those institutions where the municipality cannot guarantee a standard of education that is up to the national average, while where it can guarantee better, Mi Hazánk believes that it could also be the maintainer. This can only be achieved through close co-operation between the state and the local governments.

#### Higher education: talent, not wallets!

Mi Hazánk believes that in higher education, it is the talent and diligence of students that should prevail, not the parents' wallets. We find it unacceptable that certain diplomas can only be obtained on a fee-paying basis. Nor should the state aim to indebt young people: it needs to increase the number of publicly funded places.

#### A career in teaching with appropriate reward for performance

In higher education, there is a shortage of new teachers in many disciplines, one reason for this is the low level of salaries. According to Mi Hazánk, it is impossible to imagine quality higher education without motivating income categories.

# Culture

#### We support value

In the area of culture we intend to eliminate the state financing of "false artistic" works classified as progressive, but in the end not entailing any real value at all, and the central support of spreading these. With respect to dramatic art and cinematic art we intend to move the emphasis on the works presenting the values, real identity and historic traditions of the nation, and strengthening the healthy awareness of national identity.

#### We build on the heritage

In the area of literature, architecture and fine arts, we deem it necessary to provide central support to works strengthening the awareness of national identity, building on the Hungarian traditions and our cultural heritage, with the help of the Hungarian Academy of Arts. In all areas of culture, whether it is our traditions or our architectural masterpieces, the most important considerations are attention and retaining. In the course of the renovation of buildings, districts, parks, bridges, etc., we deem it important to retain the original image and atmosphere. A good example of this may be the renovation of the Elizabeth Bridge: Mi Hazánk can imagine its implementation in a way that Elizabeth Bridge remains a cable bridge, yet its renovation will take place on the basis of its former sample.

#### Zero tolerance against Hungarian abusives!

We intend to take firm actions against the appearance of literary and other works announced as "progressive" and "revolutionarily new", yet not entailing any artistic value and meaningless to the readers and spectators, mostly slandering the Hungarian traditions, falsifying our history, putting our actions in a bad and negative light.

#### Let us see our past clearly!

In contrast with the astounding opinion terror of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (MTA), presenting the past and origin of the Hungarians people unilaterally and unappealably, incidentally not based on facts, we deem it necessary to take into account the results of the recent researches supported by scientific facts, and the review of the hardened "official" position related to our language and origin. Having said that, we obviously deem it necessary to renew the MTA completely and make it completely balanced.

In culture, in addition to the professional standpoints, we have to implement values that we intend to communicate by the works: it is the determinant of our identity and our self-identity consciousness, thus, we have to handle this appropriately as well. However, in the past thirty years this extremely multicoloured sector has been characterised by extraordinarily disproportionate financing: whereas some people have obtained shamelessly high incomes, others have performed their work for very low incomes, without appreciation. According to Mi Hazánk this injustice has to be changed.

In the stubborn denial of our ancient origin and in the reasoning based on the distortion of sometimes ironising and sarcastic, sometimes disregarding the facts, we can identify the unambiguous intentions, rivalising and adverse, of the nations and interest circles against us. The officially accepted story of the Hungarian conquest, distorting the historical facts, playing down its significance, and the origin of our language and its relationship contacts invented and distorted, scientifically not substantiating theories, all prove that the surrounding people and ethnic groups have not had a positive attitude to us at all. Furthermore, the evidences found in written or other forms, referring to our relationship-linguistic contacts of several thousands of years have been suppressed, or these have been declared as unscientific, and have not even been put to debate either.

The presentation of the history and objectives of the "adventures" and the dissemination of the stories about barbarian Hungarians have all been destined to support that our nation is a vagabond, Asian nomad horde, aliens outside Europe, that has to be demolished by fire and sword. Proving the culture of our nation and its virtues in the vanguard with respect to civilisation, social and military organisation, our arguments certifying those with factual data have been swept simply from the table

without their substantive analyses or facts.

# **Politicised culture**

The relationship of politics and culture has always been a sensitive issue, politicians have mainly stained in connection with it. The position of Mi Hazánk is clear: we guarantee professional freedom, yet we do not tolerate the insults of the values of the Hungarian people, we declare zero tolerance against that! We do not accept that a work "does not mean anything" or it cannot be interpreted: all works communicate something and these have to be judged on the basis of this as well.

#### We appreciate the workers of the cultural sphere

In the last thirty years the cultural workers who have dealt with our cultural values day after day have not received appropriate appreciation either morally or financially. Their situation has not changed effectively, losing the public employee legal relationship has created a worse situation for many of them. It is necessary to establish a career model adjusted to the characteristics of the individual sectors.

## It is the tool of patriotic education as well

Strengthening our national identity is a primary objective. Mi Hazánk considers promoting the implementation of patriotic education as a primary standpoint in both the media and in culture. Starting from our ancient history through the protection of language to the world of theatre we consider it essential to present our real history, and provide featured support of artistic works processing this. At the same time, we exclude that any works containing LGBTQP-propaganda can be supported with public finance, which has unfortunately been performed by the Orbán-government as well.

# **Social policy**

# Solidarity with the builders, strictness vis-à-vis the destroyers

Modern nations have naturally always looked from central sources after curing their citizens, they have contributed to the costs of medical treatments, they have provided supply to their elderly or ill members at various titles, and they have assisted and supported those in need in livelihood. The amount of these items burdening the central budget has changed depending on the burden bearing capability of the given country and the priority of their politics. The extent of the so-called "social net" and the amounts of social security payments debiting the budget have changed from time to time.

#### Socially sensitive government!

The social policy of the last thirty years has been insensitive to our compatriots of hard destiny or ending up in a difficult situation, only such amount of care has been provided to the destitutes that has hardly been enough for the basic level of livelihood. The disability pensioners, the persons living with disabilities, the people performing care at home and the persons on low pension have to live among undeserved conditions. According to Mi Hazánk, this has to change radically.

# Let us decrease the differences!

The objective of Mi Hazánk is to remedy the perceptible inequalities, experienced in our society, and the situation developed as a result of the degeneration of health care following World War II. In the years of communist power only the servants of the system had received health care of appropriate level; meanwhile, the pension system had also only favoured the elite belonging to the special category, enjoying high payments and incomes. The situation is not much better today.

# Enough of parasites!

Mi Hazánk declares that the persons not working voluntarily, waiting for the assistance of the society and not participating in the payment of public dues should be assisted only at the minimum level. We intend to achieve that the social net should provide protection only for the citizens contributing to the construction and development of the country actively compared to their own strengths.

#### **Disability pension**

We will return the unjustified and unjust cuts affecting disability pensioners to the affected people. We establish a system whereby misuses are excluded, meanwhile, it should care for the people who are eligible. The Orbán government has on several occassions made a bad decision in connection with these people, this has to be remedied.

#### **Elderly care**

According to Mi Hazánk, increasing the sources is necessary in this area as well. The support of at-home care has to be underlined separately, similarly to making appropriate health care and infrastructure accessible to everybody, including the people living in villages, too. We will crack down on illegal homes that play to the deception of elderly people the most determined way, meanwhile we would like to decrease the waiting lists of old people's homes operating fairly.

#### Persons living with disabilities: dignity!

According to Mi Hazánk, it has to be made unambiguous to the entire society that living with disabilities does not mean being a loser. Our compatriots living with disabilities have to be assisted in finding and performing work in line with their circumstances, and to be able to look for a predictable future. Yet the widening of their employment still awaits, just like the universal access and the institutes and programs promoting the independent lifestyle still does not operate in sufficient number and efficiency.

#### Social workers: acknowledgement and assistance!

The situation of social workers is extremely difficult even compared to state employees: they perform testing work in the literal sense every day for a degradingly low salary. The society would not operate in lack of them, our life would be much poorer without their devotion, commitment and care, and their absence would cause irreparable damages in the society. Yet politics have not listened to their words in the past thirty years: the governments have been insensitive both vis-à-vis their financial safety and mental affliction. According to Mi Hazánk, this has to be changed: much higher financial security has to be provided to them urgently, based on real professional work, since the system has come to the verge of collapse.

# Health care

All is well if health is well – as the saying goes in Hungarian, which expresses how important health is for people, yet this has not been reflected at all in the politics of the past thirty years. The period of the MSZP-SZDSZ governments had been characterised by the withdrawal of funds, which has continued after 2010 as well: the medicine cash desk was reduced, the social security contribution was transformed into a tax, thus it can be spent for anything. The current catastrophic situation of health care is the common responsibility of the prevailing governments.

The objective of Mi Hazánk is to make the system of health care accessible for the overwhelming majority of the society, in addition to the continuous comprehensive improvement of that. In the case of an illness of any of our compatriots he/she should receive efficient and high quality health care at all three levels of that (primary care/specialist referral centre/hospital) among worthy circumstances!

## Prevention

Health does not start in the hospital. Our goal is the creation of a public health strategy that increases the number of years spent in good health and decreases deaths that can be prevented. In addition to the expansion of existing screening tests, we intend to implement and establish programs and legal regulation environment supporting the development and maintenance of a healthy lifestyle. We intend to achieve the promotion of regular exercise and healthy nutrition, and the decrease of stress, smoking and alcohol consumption of harmful extent with complex changes affecting several sectors; for example: the encouragement of healthy behaviour with tax refund benefits; the introduction of prevention of smoking in schools; and supporting employers in health development in workplaces. As we outlined it in detail in the chapter about agriculture, the Hungarian population currently eats in an extremely unhealthy way. We would implement the quality assurance of high level of our foodstuffs of weak quality full of chemicals, which produce extra profit for both the Hungarian producers and the robber capital of MNCs, in accordance with the principle of identical treatment. We are one of the most unhealthy and most overweight societies in the world. The program of Mi Hazánk would bring serious changes in this area as well, not only would we supply more healthy Hungarian foodstuffs to the population, but we would support the sport and exercise possibilities of the Hungarians much better starting from the childhood.

#### Health care workers

We encourage the significant increase in the income of health care workers, we agree with that, at the same time we stand up for penalising the acceptance of doctor's gratuity. We consider those abuses inadmissible which have been

presented among both salary increases and the payment of overtime. During the time of the pandemic health care workers have provided outstanding performance, yet the government has humiliated them on many occassions and their everydays have often been made difficult in the institutes with various administrative measures. We want the realistic presentation and communication of the events occurring in health care.

# Underfunding: let us end this at last!

If we take it seriously that we would like to improve the health condition of the Hungarian society, we cannot spare the amount spent on this either. Not only the patient care and the salaries have to be settled with appropriate safety, the other costs have to be planned realistically which contribute to improving the level of patient care, and the spread and accessibility of prevention and screening tests have to be encouraged, since lots of tax forints can be saved with this change in approach.

#### Strengthening primary care is a key issue

We support the modernisation of health care institutions, the construction of new, modern institutions, and the programs assisting in the establishment of clinics and general practitioner's medical practices in the countryside. Mi Hazánk considers the strengthening of primary care as a key issue, since this is the condition of appropriate access for the patients, moreover, the problems observed and treated in time can protect the affected people from many subsequent difficulties. We consider professional reinforcement as essential at this level, this is the most economic care, and, thus, we can relieve the more expensive institutional treatments of the burden. For this, we consider it necessary to establish a national professional institute, the introduction and assessment of directives, the continuous professional control of the quality of primary care, and the decrease in administrative burdens. Without the replacement of doctors and nurses, the practice communities are not themselves sufficient for covering the areas unprovided for. We intend to support the number of primary care workers with carrier models starting from the university years.

#### Healthy people instead of the prevalence of the medicine lobby!

Mi Hazánk does its utmost to ensure that it is not the interests of the medicine lobby that prevail, instead the real recovery should be the objective! Whether it is the vaccination against the Covid or the treatment of any other symptoms, Mi Hazánk is committed to ensure that the bad, ingrained habits can be changed. International comparisons have also verified it that Hungarians are among those people who unjustifiably use medicines and medicated products the most. In contrast with these, we promote the return to natural therapies. We consider it important to rationalise the sphere of supported medicines and changing the extent of support in accordance with the demands of the patients, since there are patients who cannot buy all the permanent medicines prescribed for them from their wallet.

# **Real survey of condition!**

The full-scope nature and detailedness of the health and public health data sources

related to the health condition of the population are deficient, the validity of these can be questioned in many cases. According to Mi Hazánk, the thorough, full-scope and realistic survey of the health condition of the population is essential, since we can only provide efficient answers to the problems, if we are aware of those. Thus, we can adjust the system to life in the long-term as well. Moreover, these data have to be disclosed to the population as well in a transparent and clear form. We consider it as unacceptable, for example, that there is no appropriate information about the efficiency of the vaccines (including the vaccination status of patients treated in intensive care unit). Mi Hazánk would like to disclose these to the population as well.

## Protection and appreciation to the ambulance crew members!

The development of the infrastructure is essential: construction, renewal and modernisation of ambulance dispatch centres, and expanding the ambulance fleet. Lifelike and feasible requirements can be set for the ambulance crew members, thus, it is necessary to change the areas to human dimensions, so that arrival is more efficient and faster. The safety of ambulance crew members should enjoy special protection: the people threatening them should be punished much more seriously; moreover, the operating and supply problems that hinder them in their work at the daily level are outrageous.

## Health care education and training

In its current condition, the health care carrier is not attractive, since the government has handled the salary increase not uniformly in the case of health care workers. This situation has to be remedied immediately, it is necessary to significantly increase the salary of workers not affected by the (recent) increase (e.g. nurses). By transforming the training system we will achieve that the lack of professionals should be terminated: we will solve the problem with a grant system and predictable financing. It is outrageous that the damages in health care education, caused by the MSZP-SZDSZ governments, have not been restored by Fidesz either: both large blocks have handled health care education as a stepchild.

#### Decreasing operation waiting lists and advance specialist bookings

The mistaken handling of the pandemic has further increased the operation waiting lists and the time of access to some specialist bookings. The current financing does not encourage the increase in performance by the state providers and it leaves an opportunity to the strengthening of private health care. Mi Hazánk would assign minimum performance indicators (e.g. number of operations, number of patients provided at specialist consultation) for the increased state basic salaries, and it would encourage the providers with additional financing related to the extra performance to ensure that they would provide additional work in the state, rather than the private, sector. We intend to improve the specialist consultation accesses with other tools as well, for example by strengthening telemedicine.

# **Sport policy**

# Sport as the source of health and national pride

Mi Hazánk Mozgalom considers sports as extremely important, since we have announced a change in attitude in health care as well: we emphasize much greater accent on prevention. And sport is the best medicine, since the number of heart and vascular system illnesses is extremely high in Hungary because of the unhealthy lifestyle, moving very little. Thus, we would provide much greater support to freetime sport, meanwhile we support the regular, daily physical education in the institutes of public education, we consider the introduction of this as a positive development. Moreover, Mi Hazánk would also expand the possibilities, for example with the education of classic combat sports (judo), which makes it possible for Hungarian youths to protect themselves with greater self-confidence in the case of an accidental attack.

Despite the fact that the Fidesz government has introduced the gymnastics every day, very rightly, yet even before 2010 there had been more gymnasiums in the schools than currently, therefore, we would rev up the construction of gymnasiums. In connection with the development of sport facilities, we would primarily take into account the demands of the population, since many professional stadiums have been built in recent years, there has been no lack of these. At the same time we would eliminate corruption from the system of constructing sport facilities. We do not support the almost anti-sport attitude of the left-liberal governments, since we remember that the stadiums were completely shabby at the time of the governments before 2010.

We think that the competitive and professional sports are useful, too, since we consider that as one of the main tools of strengthening the national self-consciousness and pride. However, it is important that not only a branch of sport, mostly team sports, is emphasised, just like in the recent years, instead all sports should receive the necessary support. This is especially true in those cases when we have been among the world's best for decades, yet the Fidesz government has treated these success sports unfavourably.

According to Mi Hazánk, we have to restore the national nature of our team sport championships. It is unacceptable that only 2-3 players are Hungarians from the 22 players in football. This also means that the beautiful stadiums and sport facilities significantly financed from the money of the Hungarian taxpayers are used by African or other foreign players instead of Hungarian talents, they serve the development of the former. Mi Hazánk would not ban the participation of foreign players in Hungarian teams, yet we would restore the national character of the championships organised from the money of Hungarian taxpayers. There has already been an example for the introduction of the quota system, a foreign coach in basketball has achieved that there should be a Hungarian player in all the Hungarian teams in Hungary.

We consider it stunning that almost all the sports associations are headed by politicians, similarly to African banana republics. Our homeland has been a true

sports nation in the past hundred years, countless suitable ex-sportsman could head the sports associations, since the current situation is disguised corruption.

During a 4-year governance Mi Hazánk would establish a sport facility (running track, outdoor gym, sports field) accessible to anyone in all the settlements of the country with population above 1,000, at the same time it would make it possible to realise similar developments for the settlements smaller than this, in a system of applications.

We would retain the corporate income tax system, yet we would re-examine it consulting with sport professional organisations. First, we would eliminate corruption from the system, second, we would make it possible to support further sports in addition to the current ones, for example successful combat sports.

Moreover, we would especially support the bringing up of recruits, and embracing the sports in nursery schools and the sport of pensioners: with obligatory number of classes; with the elaboration of professional materials; with the construction of leisure parks and sport facilities; with the establishment of playgrounds suitable for this; and with widening the sports and recreation possibilities corresponding to the age circumstances of pensioners.

Tourism is an important pillar of the national economy to be implemented by the Dawn Program. Sports constitute approximately 3 percent of the GDP of the European Union, thus, it has a major economic importance as well. A significant part of the produced income stems from sport tourism. Mi Hazánk would develop this branch of tourism significantly.

We would like to eliminate the discrimination in connection with the fans, cooperating and conciliating with the organisations of fans, it is unacceptable that the legislator criminalises the Hungarian fans of majority national feeling well in advance.

We also assist in and expand the sports opportunities of youths living with disabilities.

# Defence

Instead of a modular system of force development, which emphasises foreign service, the defence policy of Mi Hazánk calls for a unified armed forces planning capable of independently defending the homeland.

# Mi Hazánk is the only party that would bring home our soldiers from foreign occupations

The billions spent on our participation in Iraq, Mali and similar invasions would be better spent on more attractive domestic pay and more modern equipment and more serious domestic exercises for our soldiers.

Mi Hazánk does not support the creation of an international mercenary army (a common European army), which could be used against a population "rebelling" against the Union as well. Our firm position – true to the demand of the March 1848 youth – is that "our Hungarian soldiers should not be taken abroad". There is no common interest in defence, only national interests, and we would put Hungarian rather than

international interests first in military development, too.

The size and organisation of the Hungarian armed forces must be adapted to the military-geographical conditions of our homeland, the current geopolitical challenges and the strength of neighbouring countries. Our defence forces must be able to close a longer and a shorter border at the same time as soon as possible, and we must build up a force capable of defending the truncated homeland on its own.

The Hungarian Defence Forces must be able to:

- protect Hungary's territorial sovereignty,
- respond to disaster and emergency situations,
- protect the detached nation parts.

To do the above, we deem it necessary ensure the following.

#### Strengthening the patriotic and defence education of our youth

Patriotic education should start from nursery school age, initially in a playful, storytelling way. The production of a large number of colouring books, comic strips and cartoons of glorious moments in our history would be very useful in this respect. In secondary schools, we would also introduce compulsory teaching of defence studies and small arms shooting. The national self-consciousness of society as a whole would benefit from the production of high-quality and spectacular historical films and TV series.

#### **Compulsory basic national defence training**

According to the Constitution, "every Hungarian citizen is obliged to defend the homeland". However, the state does not provide the basic training needed, even though in a war situation those who have never been soldiers would still be conscripted under the current rules, and would therefore have less chance of survival.

In the current state of the Defence Forces, Hungary's defence is not guaranteed. The abolition of the conscript service, which had undoubtedly bled from many wounds in the past, was a serious blow to the country's self-defence force, as its personnel were not fully replaced. Our membership of NATO meant giving up our independence, mostly to serve US interests. We are not protected by the alliance against other NATO member states. We would only have a treaty obligation to help defend a member state in the event of an invasion, but because of the overzealousness of our previous governments we have been involved in several foreign invasions (for example in Afghanistan), our military industrial development has been focused on this aspect rather than on defending the homeland, while there has not been enough money for the necessary military exercises in Hungary, for example.

Mi Hazánk would introduce basic conscription training. The compulsory period of service for men would be two months, which would be spent in county training camps, typically during the summer holidays. The personnel undergoing basic defence training would essentially form a professionally trained "irregular" force, one of the pillars of our total defence concept. This part of our armed force would be specifically adapted to irregular warfare, trained and equipped for effective action in an asymmetric environment against the armies of overwhelmingly superior enemy countries. Equipped with large amounts of shoulder-launched anti-tank and anti-

aircraft weapons, high-tech explosive devices, and remote-controlled and self-guiding platforms, the force, mainly equipped for urban combat, would form a hard-to-defeat defence system.

The two months of basic defence training are short enough to enable the personnel to fight in manoeuvre warfare, so Mi Hazánk would like to organise the possibility of one year of voluntary conscription with an appropriate salary in order to fill the ranks as fully as possible. Our compatriots who undertake such service would be entitled to a defence scholarship for higher education, priority in applying for government jobs and other benefits (e.g. a free category C driving licence).

Persons who are unfit for military service for any reason, or who conscientiously object to military service, would be obliged to serve three months of civilian service in state or municipal facilities.

# Expansion of the current Defence Forces personnel, salary settlement and solving housing

It is not enough to amend a piece of legislation, to rewrite the number of staff it contains, because this will not result in more soldiers or more defence personnel. Making the profession attractive is a task for the entire Hungarian Defence Forces, even if not equally. Effective recruitment is needed, targeting the young people who really belong here. Retaining the existing staff would be equally important, as there is currently a high level of turnover. Over the past few years, more than ten thousand people have left the Hungarian Defence Forces, which is a huge loss. The premature loss of every trained soldier costs taxpayers millions of forints, and the Defence Forces lose efficiency, as new recruits have to be recruited and trained to replace those who leave.

In order to defend our independence and the goods we have produced, we need a military force that makes it impossible, or at least so difficult, to take them from the Hungarians that it is no longer worth it. There is an optimal size for this, which, if properly managed, can become an active part of the economy. The main tool for replenishing and retaining staff is a comprehensive pay settlement, which does not mean fiddling with bonuses and funds. Taking 2021 as a base year, we see a need for a salary increase of at least 30%. Let's not forget that the Defence Forces also have to contend with competition from the civilian sector. Even if, despite the low salaries, you are hired out of patriotism, a sense of adventure or some other inner impulsion, you may soon turn to the competitive sector, where you can easily get twice as much. With early career changers, the time and money invested is lost, at a much higher cost in the long run than giving the staff higher salary. In addition to the pay settlement, we also see it as crucial to address the housing problems of professional and contracted personnel, and to develop service-related housing complexes next to the barracks to meet the needs of unmarried soldiers and soldiers with families.

Mi Hazánk would examine the possibility of military service for our brothers and sisters of non-Hungarian origin who are Hungarian citizens but not resident in Hungary, in order to further supplement the Defence Forces. Many countries in Europe offer the possibility for locally resident persons of foreign nationality to serve in their national army, but Mi Hazánk would do so for Hungarian-speaking persons of Hungarian nationality living in the neighbouring countries of the parts of the country annexed during Trianon, in accordance with Hungarian characteristics.

# Setting up new units, filling in skills that are still missing

The dismantling of the Defence Forces started already at the end of the Kádár era, and all previous "reforms" meant downsizing, not only during the MSZP-SZDSZ and the first Orbán government, but also during the eight years of Fidesz government after 2010. For decades, the Defence Forces have been depleted of equipment and staff as if they were in a never-ending war. Sometimes fighter regiments were disbanded, sometimes hundreds of armoured units were withdrawn without replacement. Entire branches of the armed forces disappeared, entire regions were withdrawn from the Defence Forces.

On the one hand, we cannot allow such blatant acts of sabotage to go unpunished, and on the other hand, we must repair the damages caused. The possibility of reopening the bases that were dismantled under the Gyurcsány traitorous leadership should be explored. In South Transdanubia, in the Danube-Tisza Interfluve and in North-Eastern Hungary, new units would be set up, partly using existing units and partly using new ones.

## Extension of the Zrínyi 2026 force development plan

There is no doubt that after three decades of vegetation and degradation, Zrínyi 2026 is a conceptual and forward-looking development plan, but it is mainly designed to meet NATO's expectations. The guiding principle of the concept of Mi Hazánk is the restoration of the country's ability to defend itself. To this end, we intend to build a mixed force, taking into account the military-geographical and geopolitical situation of the country, taking into account recent war experiences (e.g. Eastern Ukraine, Karabakh) and the geopolitical situation of the country.

The fist of the Defence Forces would be provided by a manoeuvre force of professional, contractual and volunteer conscripts. The security and protection of the hinterland would be provided by a small number of professional and contractual, but predominantly compulsory basic national defence training, area defence forces.

## **Developing the domestic defence industry**

As a result of the anti-military policy of the past decades, the Hungarian military industry was even worse off than the Hungarian Defence Forces, and by the beginning of the 21st century it had practically ceased to exist. The fourth Orbán government has made a real attempt to build a military industry employing a few thousand people, but using modern technologies. Mi Hazánk would further expand these capacities, preferably by creating domestically owned factories. The more widespread domestic production would keep a significant part of the money spent on arms production in the country, and in the event of a conflict, the country would be less dependent on foreign supplies.

#### **Restructuring the reserve system**

In principle, our party welcomes the establishment of a reserve system. However, the practical implementation is problematic in many respects, and even raises serious concerns in professional circles, and there are now four types of reserve service, making it even more complex and heterogeneous. Mi Hazánk's vision for defence, different from all the other parties, would fundamentally change the reserve system. The manoeuvre reserve, the operational reserve, would be made up of demobilised

professional, contractual and volunteer conscripts who would be classified as Line I reservists for five years after their demobilisation. Conscripts who have undergone basic national defence training would also form the reserve of the territorial defence forces for a period of five years as well. Older volunteers would also increase the reserve of the territorial protection force.

#### **Re-establishment of the border guard**

The crisis that erupted in 2015, caused by the influx of illegal immigrants, came as a shock to the state and its population. The police were only able to seal the border together with the then low-ranking Hungarian Defence Forces, and even with a joint force they barely managed. This case has shown that if we do not guard the borders of the state, others will disregard them, and it has also highlighted the need to leave it to professionals. The only thing that will work for some time is to withdraw the police and defence forces from elsewhere, because they have to carry out their original tasks, or public safety will deteriorate and skills will be worn out elsewhere. The border hunter units set up within the Standby Police were quickly filled, which shows the social support, but they were also quickly depleted, as people applied to protect the border, not to chase deviants in the centre of Budapest, for example.

Instead of introducing new legal regimes, taking soldiers and policemen from elsewhere and other tricks, our solution is to revive the border police, with a well-trained staff, with local knowledge, supported by the right material and legal background.

Instead of brutal increases in spending on border protection, Mi Hazánk would issue a deterrent fire order against violent border crossers, and instead of escorting people back over the fence, it would impose millions of forints in on-the-spot fines on illegal migrants, who often come with thousands of euros in their pockets, which mostly ends up with people smugglers. Introducing these would give the Hungarian border guards a deterrent reputation, which would also save considerable sums of money.

## **Budget**

Creating an effective defence force is costly, so after reaching the NATO expectation of a defence budget of 2% of GDP, we should continue to increase by 0.1% per year until we reach 2.5%. And it will take decades with this kind of budget to build up our country's defence system to the right level.

# Labour affairs

# Work-based society

According to Mi Hazánk, we cannot build our society and our livelihood on anything other than value-creating work, which is becoming increasingly valuable in the 21st century. We do not accept that those who are able to work should not want to work, but it is an important objective for the state to recognise work done at home, in the family, and for women's time at home with children to be included as a value, for example in pension calculations.

# If there is work, there is everything

If people can earn a decent living, they can raise their children safely, pay their bills, shop, have fun and travel. But work is the way out, not only for the individual, but for the nation as a whole: it is the way to reduce public debt, improve education, health care and the social safety net. Of course, it is also necessary to reduce the corruption that now pervades everything, and to take the strongest possible action against it, with strict penalties.

# Instead of the interests of MNCs, let's favour Hungarian employees!

When drafting the Labour Code, the government took the interests of multinational companies into account much more than those of Hungarian employees. At the same time, Hungary's competitiveness cannot be based on low salaries: the colonial approach must be replaced by a policy of decent wages. According to Mi Hazánk, it is fatal and will lead to the further depopulation of the country if no effective solution to the wage problem is found in the short term.

#### Strategic agreement with micro, small and medium-sized enterprises

In contrast to the governments of the past thirty years, Mi Hazánk would not sign strategic contracts with foreign giants, but with Hungarian micro, small and mediumsized enterprises, as they employ the vast majority of employees, and there is no risk of their capacity being moved to the East overnight. The contents of the agreements must also be changed: it is not acceptable for a company to receive state aid without making almost any commitment to worker safety.

## Lower taxes on labour!

To increase employment, wage-related costs should be reduced (by reducing wagebased deductions for employers). In addition to increasing the amount of ordinary leave for workers with families, the rules on the granting of leave should be amended to give workers more choice of decision.

## Value-creating public works!

There are almost 150,000 public workers in the country and the government wants to drastically reduce this number. In contrast, Mi Hazánk would introduce two categories of public work. It would enable value-creating work for a higher income, at least the minimum wage, and thus help the underfunded, low-income small settlements where these local workers build and maintain the community living space day by day. A part of the salary would be awarded as a variable salary depending on performance.

And for those who, for various reasons, are unable to do other, constructive work, it would keep the current public employment system as a compulsory starting point for work, but would encourage those who are motivated to move up a level, to do better quality work, with higher pay and greater appreciation. Mi Hazánk is committed to building a work- and performance-based society, and therefore advocates performance-based differentiated pay for public employees as well.

# Promoting atypical forms of employment

We call for a legal obligation for employers to allow as much work as possible to be done from home, where the job does not necessarily require the employee to be present at the workplace. We support the introduction of a benefit system for employers to promote long-term employment ("old brigade").

# **Duty-free labour arbitration**

Restore duty-free labour arbitration for the benefit of the employee and ensure the right to a fee waiver in civil proceedings for all individuals in a dispute with a legal entity.

## We do not accept compulsory vaccination

Mi Hazánk does not accept the compulsory vaccination against coronavirus in any sector: only professional reasons and performance should decide whether a job is filled. We find this kind of blackmail, which is mostly about forcing vaccination, outrageous.

## For factory workers

MNCs would be obliged to support the development of a trade union system. There are many companies, even if no one talks about it, where there is no trade union, although there is certainly a need for one.

In companies where the employment of a person responsible for labour and environmental protection is mandatory, the employment relationship should be between the state and the individual, not between the company and the individual. The companies concerned would pay their monthly contributions into a compulsory fund, from which the state would pay their wages. This is very important because processes that are detrimental to workers' health are often overridden by profit hunger, so it's the number of units that counts, but we believe that the health of the Hungarian workers is more important.

Red-letter holidays should not last from 6 a.m. to 6 p.m., but should start at 10 p.m. on the day before the holiday and end at 6 a.m. on the day after the holiday. So no production or profit-oriented activity should take place on public holidays, except of course in companies where the shutdown of machinery – for example in the case of furnaces – would result in disproportionately high losses.

In a factory environment, the working time frame could be up to 3 months at the most, but in some places it could be even less, so hours worked are paid out at the end of the month.

The annual leave for night shift workers should be increased, because night work is so unhealthy for the human body that it requires more rest, because although there is a night allowance, it does not make the worker more rested.

The Labour Code should be made available to all workers in an electronically

searchable format and displayed in all factory premises.

We want to eliminate job shop agencies where they are at the expense of employers. In our experience, they have a huge role to play in diminishing workers' voice in certain areas. If these companies did not exist, employers would be forced to do more HR work and would be more motivated to retain their employees. Workers brought in by job shop agencies are at a serious disadvantage compared to regular workers. In our view, the elimination of job shop agencies would also greatly reduce fluctuation, which would increase the chances of worker representation.

# **Transportation**

# Transportation for the people!

Transportation is a sector that affects all of our compatriots: whether it is by foot, with mass transportation, by cars, water or air. At the same time the deficiencies of infrastructure cause a lot of annoyances in our everyday life, not mentioning the damages to the national economy that are generated by the time lost because of the stalling of transportation. The branches of transportation have to be specified separately and a concept for those has to be elaborated one by one.

# **Protection of interests of carriers**

The protection of interests of Hungarian carriers have to be taken much more seriously, all regulations related to them and the formation of costs have to be elaborated together with them! The European Union and Hungary are at the threshold of a serious situation similar to the goods supply disorder in Britain, if there is no change in approach vis-à-vis the road carriers representing the backbone of the supply chain. The supply of the population and the production plants cannot be operated without the common burden undertaking and the system-level bearing of costs.

## **Stop corruption!**

The construction of motorways has to be revised, it cannot be allowed that those are in sole held by exclusive contractors who are close to the government, for decades. In the past thirty years the motorway constructions have been the hotbed of corruption: in many cases these have been implemented by overpricing and with pointless and nonsensical technical solutions (e.g. the unnecessary tunnels of motorway M6). The decision makers have to undertake political and economic responsibility for these.

## **Development of the infrastructure**

Developing the public road network is necessary in all the regions, since the safety of the people is not appropriate, moreover, the roads that entangle our homeland do not contribute to the development of the given regions. The practice whereby, if a motorway is constructed, the former main roads are neglected and are let sink, and, thus, the commuter traffic of small distance is slowed down greatly, has to be terminated. According to Mi Hazánk, the current renovations have to increase by at least three-fold.

# **Decreasing the danger of accidents**

According to Mi Hazánk, it is not the political lobby interests that would have to influence which roads or road sections have to be renewed or made more secure, instead the number of accidents should be the basis of the decision. The intervention as soon as possible is necessary for those sections where the most people die or are injured. Each year the state should undertake the reconstruction of the roads with the twenty most accidents at least so that we can get around more safely.

#### Maintenance

Negligence of the maintenance of roads and the consequence of work performed irresponsibly, not performed correctly, is a serious problem, which greatly endangers the safety of transportation and damages the technical condition of the vehicles. The lag of correction of potholes further demolishes the condition of the roads. It imperils transportation and the lack of sight signs (sign, road surface signs, lamps, etc.) increases the danger.

# 21<sup>st</sup> century developments on the railway!

According to Mi Hazánk, the primary and most important development is that of railway. The current developments only trail the requirements of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. In Hungary the objective is to ensure a speed of 160 km/h after the modernisation of the railway. The developed railway networks are already capable of speeds of up to 250 km/h. If Hungary does not catch up, the carriers will simply go round it. Those main railway routes have to be designated and built which are essential in terms of the Hungarian railways. Especially the freight traffic ring V0.

## More protection to conductors!

The utilisation of railway lines also depends on how safe the passengers and even the conductors feel themselves. Unfortunately public safety has reached the level where primarily Gypsy criminals terrorise the passengers on several railway lines, sometimes even attacking the conductors as well. The body camera introduced by the government is not a solution, since the attacker tears it off with a movement; more efficient action and frequent police control, moreover, stricter items of punishment, are necessary.

## Air transportation: state control!

The two basic pillars of air transportation are air traffic control and the airport. In the current situation we do not deal with air transportation, since that is the task of the carriers and service providers. Not so for the control and the airport. Both have to be state tasks. Whether it is a municipality held airport or a private airport, control has to be performed by the state. The Liszt Ferenc airport has to be re-nationalised, since it is an untenable situation that the only top-class international airport of the country is practically held by foreign private owners. Although according to

professional analysts, air transportation has suffered such a wound that it cannot recover from it within 5-6 years, the ownership of Ferihegy should be held by the Hungarian nation. The incomes of air traffic control should be directed to the budget directly, it should not be entrusted to a joint stock company.

#### Water transportation

We would have to utilise the possibilities and circumstances of our two main rivers, the Danube and the Tisza, much better. Passenger transport and transport of goods have to be developed on both the Tisza and the Danube. Modern ports have to be implemented for high-standard getting out and in. Outstanding and comfortable lounges are necessary at the landing places, with smaller shops, P+R parking, receiving several ships concurrently, taxi station and bus connection. Machines, a lorry parking, a road network and a logistics centre are necessary for ensuring the quick unloading and loading of cargo ships.

Such ships have to be launched that ensure comfortable travel, are fast and are equipped with an appropriate navigation equipment for transportation throughout the whole year. The cities by the riverside are connected in the entire length of the rivers. Water passenger transport should be a part of the nationwide public transportation! Ships of 200-250 passengers, appropriate for the requirements of the age are necessary for serving the traffic, thus, the passenger ship production, with a great past, has to be started again, this could create work and livelihood to thousands of people, and it would decrease the exposure of the country. Tourism shipping has a great opportunity and it can calculate on great support from riverside cities.

## **Public transport in cities**

The transportation of cities such as Budapest and in general the cities – where it is always the authority of the municipality – has great problems. With the procurement of efficient and economical vehicles, with the development of flexible timetables, and with the development of free P+R parking places established next to the lead in road of cities, we can promote the decrease in vehicle traffic and the efficient utilisation of mass transport. Mi Hazánk resolutely fights against the parking mafia considered by now as a concomitant of city transportation as well.

# **Energetics**

## One of the essential components of our safety

Hungary is not self-sufficient in terms of energetics, it is in import dependent situation with respect to energy sources. The European Energy Charter Treaty determines the direction of our actions, meanwhile it assists in our energy procurements and in decreasing our energy dependence. One of the essential components of our safety is the safety of energy supply, which can be sustained – cooperating with the European energy networks, perhaps even ensuring self-sufficiency – and which we intend to ensure by supporting renewable energy sources.

## Sustainable energy supply!

Our opportunities and the direction of our actions are determined by the European

Energy Charter Treaty. Accordingly, the Parliament passed the document entitled National Energy Strategy 2030. This resolution and strategy prescribed the measures of legislation that have been executed and passed by the Fidesz government, however, some documents of key importance are still missing (e.g. the power plant development action plan).

## Livable country and planet!

We intend to implement our energy safety by taking into account the maintenance of livability of our homeland and our planet. To this end, we will increase the ratio of distributed, unique and cooperating community energy producing and energy storage systems, primarily based on solar energy sources, however, not to the detriment of arable lands. We handle the spread of electric cars as a fact and we will assist with all the tools the self-sufficient and self-supporting household (and transport) energy production combined with energy storage.

#### Wind power

In contrast with the energy policy of the Fidesz government, we do not abandon wind power either, however, in order to stabilise the system of electric energy, we would attach the establishment of such production capacities to the combined establishment and operation of (battery-powered) electric energy storage capacities of identical performance.

## **Alternative of the Mátra Power Plant**

We cannot disregard the untapped geothermic energy potential of our homeland, we consider this clean energy source as an important element of our energy strategy. This may be the carbon dioxide free alternative of the Mátra Power Plant!

## We have to improve energy efficiency!

We cannot disregard the facts of global warming, we have to adjust to the challenges of the climate change, we have to improve our energy efficiency. At the same time, we consider it important to call the attention to this: we should not be trapped by the climate lobby! We should not follow the German example, which endangers the safety of the cooperating European electric energy network, risking power outages affecting areas of regions, with the false slogan of the "Energiewende" (Energy change) and the closure of essential power plants.

## Think long-term!

We cannot yet abandon the production of the Paks Nuclear Power Plant either. Its operating life is over 50 years, its subsequent prolongation has to be examined regularly. The issue of final placement of the radioactive waste has to be solved, we cannot leave this to the generation after us. When taking the opportunities into account, we cannot get around the construction of Paks II either. At the same time, we consider it necessary to prepare an alternative feasibility study. It also has to be taken into account that the construction of the air cooler towers, appearing in the concept of the nuclear power plant, left out only because of economic viewpoints, will be necessary as well, moreover, the cost of constructing and maintaining the "radioactive waste storage" facility, not yet known today, has to be calculated to the price of the nuclear power plant!

#### Dam

The necessity of energy storage raises the dam construction issues at the Danube that are considered as taboos, which is not considered as taboo by Mi Hazánk, on the contrary! We consider this as an issue to be examined and discussed in terms of climate policy (water management, shipping, nuclear power plant cooling), in addition to supporting other water retention investments.

#### **Transparency in public lighting!**

Despite the centralisation efforts of Fidesz, we demand the publicity and transparency of public lighting renewal and operation contracts and invoicing data, (still) held by municipalities, serving the public interest, we also recommend an amendment of laws for this.

#### Safety of supply!

The major proportion of the Hungarian utilisation of fossil fuel stems from imports, domestic production is approximately one-tenth of the imports, in terms of both crude oil and natural gas. Until now we have ensured our natural gas utilisation from two main directions, from Austria and the Ukraine. The latter direction of procurement is burdened with serious political risks because of the Transcarpathia, thus, we welcome the replacement of this. With respect to the safety of supply, Mi Hazánk encourages the diversification of procurement opportunities, therefore, we support the steps taken towards the connection to the South Stream/Turkish Stream natural gas pipeline. We also agree with the development of the ROHU-connection ensuring access to the Romanian natural gas fields.

# **Youth policy**

#### Secondary school scholarship program!

We intend to introduce a secondary school scholarship program similar to the university student grant for the better study average of the students. The winners would be announced biannually, they would receive their reward monthly in the relevant half of the school year.

#### More livable dormitories!

Instead of the atmosphere of dormitories of the socialist period, we encourage the establishment of dormitories of the 21st century. Enough of the crumbling walls, draughty windows and musty showers! We need cleaner and more modern dormitories! We want free and operational computer and Internet utilisation opportunities, WiFi, and student libraries in the dormitories.

#### **Shorter classes + free time**

Classes before 8 a.m. should be abolished, and the classes after the 5th class should be 40-minute long instead of 45 minutes.

#### Assistance for the driver's licence

Obtaining the driver's licence should be free for those under the age of 20 years for people with at least a primary school qualification!

#### National, Christian education!

Teachers should perform their work in the primary and secondary schools and in

higher education by respecting the national, Christian culture of Hungary. There should be national-Christian education instead of neutrality of world view!

#### There should be education of self-defence!

Hungary is the most overweight nation in Europe. Health and, thus, sports are important for us as well. Of the five classes of gymnastics per week one should be education of self-defence or combat sports (baranta, judo, karate). The Hungarian youth has to learn to defend themselves. Youth full of vitality, nation full of vitality!

#### **50 lessons of community service or foretaste of defence training**

The 50 lessons of community service could be replaced with 7 days of foretaste of defence training, where the youth can learn about the operation of the Hungarian Army, their physical condition and knowledge can develop, and they would be subject to military discipline. They can also master the use of the bow in accordance with the Hungarian traditions.

# Decrease the cost price of educating teachers, increase the salary of teachers!

The cost price per semester of students majoring in education may be more than HUF 400 thousand, which has to be maximised at HUF 250 thousand, and their salary has to be increased to the average salary of graduates. They have the greatest responsibility and task in the work of saving the nation.

#### Access to Internet of good quality to all the teachers!

The state has to provide access to good quality Internet to all the schools and teachers so that the classes can be conducted smoothly, in accordance with the requirements of the 21st century.

#### Hungarian authors outside Hungary to school libraries!

It would be important after the 100th anniversary of Trianon that the Hungarian writers and poets of the annexed territories represent a greater part in the education system of the stunted Hungary. The works of Albert Wass, Sándor Sajó, Áron Tamási, Sándor Reményik, József Nyírő, Sándor Márai and Miklós Zrínyi should be put to the shelves of the libraries of every school of the stunted nation! Providing assistance to battered people!

The issue of student rights and conflict management should be subjects of classes in all school years in the secondary schools. Students should receive a legal basic education that assists in considering whether they can proceed in protecting themselves legally in the given situation. The number of domestic violence is especially high in Hungary, thus, each Hungarian school has to pay special attention to this.

#### Green programs to schools!

Emphasizing the importance of protecting our planet, we would make it obligatory for all students to participate in at least one green program organised by the school, this may be waste collection, assistance in animal shelters, planting trees, etc.

#### **Respect the teacher, respect the student!**

It happens often that some young people not intending to behave and hindering their

schoolmates try to intimidate their teachers as well. They have to be transferred to a special class or a special residential institution, depending on the extent of antisocial behaviour. This is our idea about the segregation of education. It is important that they can be transferred back to their former class if their behaviour and school achievement seem to be improving.

## The school has to prepare for real life!

Graduating from school and in lack of learning from their parents, many young people do not know how to complete a cheque, send a letter, or report a change in address; they know nothing about the differences of statuses of employers and employees, the taxation, the bank system, the pension system, and the reported employment. There should be one practical class once a fortnight in the 12th class that would prepare for these common issues of life!

#### Folk awareness class in lower primary school

We initiate the introduction of a homeland and folk awareness class in the primary school, in the framework of this children can learn about Hungarian traditions with creative methods. In the framework of this class they can, for example, learn about runic writing, basic garden maintenance (planting, pruning, farming), and folk dance as well. They can learn about breaking away from post-modernity.

#### Free upgrading secondary school leaving exam!

The first, at least 45% level-upgrading secondary school leaving examination should be free! Thus, we would encourage the students who applied to a university, but were not admitted or not to the university that they intended to be admitted. They should not give it up! They should study, take the free upgrading secondary school leaving examination, obtain a diploma, and achieve their objectives!

## National pride instead of sense of national guilt!

Many teenagers state that they are ashamed of being Hungarians, since a negative picture is painted about our homeland at the history classes. Enough of this! Teachers should teach about a Hungary we can be proud of, not a Hungary we have to be embarrassed of! We require a change of approach in the education of the Hungarian history.

The language exam should overwrite the intermediate language secondary school leaving examination.

With the successful B2 language exam it should not be obligatory to take the language secondary school leaving examination, the student should be able to accept, in a percentage ratio, the result of the language exam as a result of the secondary school leaving examination, too.

# **Pension policy**

## **Justice to the pensioners!**

We consider it necessary to elaborate the reform of the system of retirement pensions in which our citizens working honestly and persistently during an entire life will receive the retirement pension necessary for living a decent old age. Moreover, we intend to achieve that people with disproportionately high income should not receive prominently high pension. We think that the people with high income in their active years should take care of enjoying their living standard above the average, accustomed to earlier on, by using their own sources, with appropriate investments. By maximising the upper level of retirement pensions, the higher proportion of the older members of the society could receive a decent higher pension, sufficient to ensure the appropriate circumstances.

# Pension system based on the principle of merit

As an advocate of a society based on merit, Mi Hazánk acknowledges and rewards child raising and work, and intends to do justice to the victims of the communist system and the wild capitalist system following that. We intend to ensure solidarity constituting a part of the Christian value system as well, and we intend to ensure the deserved and safe old age to all our compatriots.

## **Decreasing the unjustified differences**

Whereas in Poland, with historic and economic situation similar to Hungary, the minimum pension is an amount corresponding to HUF 100 thousand, in Hungary this is HUF 28,500; the difference between the lowest and highest pensions is 7-8x, whereas in Hungary this is close to 100x. This cannot remain this way!

The exploitation of the population in the countryside, the workers of agricultural cooperatives, the Hungarian peasantry, the unskilled, semi-skilled and skilled workers, and the employees with a secondary school leaving examination has continued unfalteringly in the past thirty years as well.

# **Differentiated increase of pensions**

A differentiated increase of pensions would be necessary to align the low pensions, as a part of this, the following would have to be preferred:

- people in the range below HUF 150 thousand (this is 77% of the pensioners),
- people with a long work relationship (more than 35 years),
- pensioners having raised at least three children.

In order to increase the pensions according to the above line of preference, the source would partly be created by freezing the pensions above HUF 500 thousand until the low pensions are increased to over HUF 150 thousand at the least.

# Transformation of the insurance contribution

The long-term transformation of the insurance contribution payment system of gliding nature, of extent increasing annually, has to be started, to a pension advance system increased with guaranteed interest amount of the most favourable yield government bond, handled on the separate account of the beneficiary by the state and issued in the current calendar year.

# **State guarantee for the pensions!**

The "dividing-imposing" pension system has to be transformed to the principal coverage pension system with state guarantee. The amount of old-age pension minimum, unchanged since 2008, has to be increased to the real value of extent identical with the rate of inflation realised during the time passed since that; moreover, the pension ceiling has to be introduced; and the leading officers of the communist system would have to be deprived of the pension payment for the period of service before 1990. In order to strengthen the labour market, the training system maintained free of charge by the labour centres has to be started again and expanded, and the increased domestic employment of employees has to be ensured in the vocational training work contractual system, in co-operation with the employee representation of interests. The child raising support (i.e. the "full-time parenthood" support) has to be aligned not with the pension minimum of HUF 28,500, instead with the minimum wage.

# **Remove the communist luxury pensions!**

Mi Hazánk still insists on achieving that those people who obtain luxury pension for their communist services, before 1990, should be entitled to only the minimum pension later on.

## **Devotion allowance**

Mi Hazánk intends to take care with devotion those who have reached the end of their life full of work. Therefore, we have to achieve that for people who had at least 20 years of legal work relationship in Hungary in their life, the state should pay a devotion allowance, after each taxpaying Hungarian citizen. The basic value of the allowance is gross HUF 300 thousand.

## **Closing remarks**

In order to improve the political culture, we would make it obligatory for all parties to prepare an election program and to undertake a debate of the prime minister nominees. The standard of politics and public discourse has worsened, these are less about the suggestions affecting the everydays of people, and personal mudslinging is more and more typical. The responsibility of Fidesz is outstanding in this, since it does not even grace the citizens preparing for a responsible decision with a formal election program, and it does not undertake a debate of prime minister nominees. What is more, it prohibits participation at such debates by its representative candidates. Instead of these, it conducts demagogic government propaganda from billions of public money. Mi Hazánk Mozgalom would like to change these as well.

We are aware that the fulfilment of the Dawn Program and our plans and ideas is an extremely hard, testing and complex task. Hence, in the course of implementing our objectives, we count on the assistance, support and work of our compatriots, considering the retaining of our national self-identity as important, ready to serve the advancement of the nation with actions, by all patriotic hearted people of the society.

In lack of radical reforms, the Hungarian nation and society are at the mercy of and exploited by capitalist-Marxist economic policy and the rich EU core countries; interlaced with corruption, bound by complicated and unclear legal regulations, faced with problems related to Gypsies day after day, directed by liberal opinion leaders in their education system and culture, they can be manipulated by the oligarchs and MNCs at will, and they are condemned to servant destiny, and it is not easy to remedy their subjugation. On the Hungarian political palette, our movement is the only initiator, announcer and representative of several important reforms and revolutionary program items that are capable of influencing the future of the nation fundamentally, with the implementation of these we can break out from this situation.

We declare it with confidence and conviction that the radical changes are essentially necessary for moving forward and for the renewal of the system of the Hungarian society, the national economy and the state. Mi Hazánk Mozgalom undertakes to implement this task. We request you to support our Dawn Program and establish a more beautiful future with your vote!

[Translated by Péter Vörös]